
Planning and Highways Committee

Thursday, 20th September, 2018
6.30 pm

Meeting Room A, Blackburn Town Hall

AGENDA

1.  Welcome and Apologies

2.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting
Minutes 16th August 2018 3 - 6

3.  Declaration of Interest
Declaration of Interest 7

PLANNING MATTERS 

4.  Planning Applications
Planning Applications Summary 8

4.1  Planning Application 10/18/0230 - Old School Grounds, 
Edgworth, BL7 0PU
Planning Application 10-18-0230 - Old School Grounds, 
Edgworth, BL7 0PU

9 - 63

4.2  Planning Application 10/18/0396 - Land and Properties 
off Billinge End Road, Blackburn BB2 6PY
Planning Application - 10-18-0396 - Land and Properties 
off Billinge End Road, Blackburn BB2 6PY

64 - 132

4.3  Planning Application 10/18/0502- 11 Vale Street, 
Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0EB
Planning Application - 10-18-0502 - Planning Application 
- 11 Vale Street, Edgworth, Bolton, BL7 0EB

133 - 
146

5.  Implementation of the Revised National Planning Policy 
Framework (2018) and Other Relevant Updated/New 
National Planning Guidance

Public Document Pack



Implementation of NPPF 2018 and other NPPG 147 - 
157

6.  Petition objecting to a planning application for the 
proposed change of use of 282 Blackburn Road, 
Darwen from a Bed and Breakfast to a 6 bed 
Therapeutic Centre
Petition 282 Blackburn Road Darwen 158 - 

159

PART 2 - THE PRESS AND PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED 
DURING CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS: 

7.  Enforcement Report
Enforcement report 160 - 

166

Update Report 167 - 
168

Date Published: Wednesday, 12 September 2018 
Harry Catherall, Chief Executive



Planning & Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th August 2018 

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE
16th August 2018

PRESENT – Councillors; Smith D (in the Chair), Akhtar H, Casey, 
Daley, Davies, Groves (substitute for Cllr Riley), Jan-Virmani, Khan Z, 
Khonat, Marrow (substitute for Cllr Hardman), Oates, Slater Ja

OFFICERS – Gavin Prescott (Development Manager), Michael Green 
(Legal), Saf Alam (Highways Development Control Engineer) and 
Wendy Bridson (Democratic Services).

RESOLUTIONS

13 Welcome and Apologies

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. Apologies were received 
from Councillors Hardman, Richards and Riley. 

14 Minutes of the last Meeting held on 12th July 2018

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the last meeting held on 12th July 
2018 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

15 Declarations of Interest

There were no Declarations of Interest received.  

16 Planning Applications

The Committee considered reports of the Director of Growth and 
Development detailing the planning applications listed overleaf.

In considering the applications, the Committee took into account 
representations or submissions provided by individuals with the officers 
answering points raised during discussion thereon.

RESOLVED – (1) That the following decisions be made on the 
applications set out overleaf:

Application
No.

Applicant Location and
Description

Decision under
Town and Country
Planning Acts and

Regulations

10/18/0075 Wainhomes 
(North West) Ltd 
& Bowsall Ltd

Site address: Land at School Lane, Guide, 
Blackburn, BB1 2JX

Proposed development: Full Planning 
Application for Full application for 45 dwellings 
with associated new access, landscaping and 
parking and associated works

Approved subject to 
delegated authority being 
given to the Head of 
Service for Planning to 
approve planning 
permission subject to an 
agreement under Section 
106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Planning & Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th August 2018 

relating to the payment of 
financial contributions 
which relate to matters 
highlighted in the Director’s 
Report. 

Should the s106 agreement 
not be completed within 6 
months of the date of this 
resolution, the Head of 
Service for Planning will 
have delegated powers to 
refuse the application. 

With conditions as detailed 
in the Director’s Report and 
additional conditions as 
detailed in the Update 
Report. 

10/18/0183 Mr & Mrs J 
Czutkwona

Site address: Wayoh Barn, Blackburn Road
Edgworth, Bolton, BL7 0PZ

Proposed development: Outline Planning 
Application for demolition of existing building, 
residential development of up to 5no. dwellings 
and site access; with all other matters reserved

Approved subject to the 
conditions highlighted in 
the Director’s Report. 

10/18/0417 Mr Simeon 
Stuttard

Site address: The Arches, 581-583 Preston 
Old Road, Blackburn, BB2 5HD

Proposed development: Full Planning 
Application (Retrospective)for Retrospective 
change of use from A1 convenience store to 
A3 cafe-restaurant

Approved subject to the 
conditions highlighted in 
the Director’s Report and 
additional condition as 
detailed in the Update 
Report, with further 
approval for Sunday hours 
to be extended from 10:00 
to 18:00 hours. 

10/18/0581 Blackburn with 
Darwen 
Borough Council

Site address: Blakewater Lodge Rest Home,
Swallow Drive, Blackburn, BB1 6LE

Proposed development: Prior Notification - 
Demolition (Regulation 4) of former rest home

Noted that prior approval 
was not required subject to 
works being undertaken in 
accordance with the 
submitted and reviewed 
information as detailed in 
the Director’s Report. 

10/18/0612 Blackburn With 
Darwen 
Borough Council

Site address: Land at Bank Top / Redlam 
Brow, Blackburn

Proposed development: Full Planning 
Application (Regulation 4) for Demolition of 
former Griffin Public House, Nos. 35-41 
Stansfeld Street and Nos. 12-24 Hancock 
Street, site enabling works and other 
associated works.

Approved subject to the 
conditions highlighted in 
the Director’s Report.

Page 4



Planning & Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th August 2018 

17 Planning Service Performance Report – Processing Planning 
Applications

A report was submitted informing Members of the Committee of the 
Planning Service’s current performance in processing planning 
applications which followed the Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government published document in November 2016 “Improving 
Planning Performance – Criteria for Designation”, which set out the 
criteria the Government intended to use for designating a Local 
Planning Authority as underperforming and the thresholds that 
Authorities would be assessed against. 

The report highlighted the Council’s performance for the rolling period 
of 2 years up to 30th June 2018 and confirmed that the Council was 
currently meeting the Government’s thresholds. 

The Committee expressed their thanks and congratulations to the 
Officers and Chair. 

 RESOLVED – That the Committee Note the content of the Report. 

18 Petition – Display of a free standing advertisement on land at 
Whalley Old Road

A petition was submitted informing Members of the Committee of the 
receipt of a petition relating to the display of a free standing 
advertisement on land at Whalley Old Road, Blackburn. 

The Committee were informed that the application had been approved 
on the 8th March 2018 and had been on display since. Members were 
advised that there was no statutory duty to carry out a public 
consultation for an application for Advertisement Consent. 

RESOLVED – That the Committee note the petition and that the Lead 
Petitioner be notified of the decision. 

19 83 Exclusion of the Press and Public 

RESOLVED - That the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the following item in view of the fact that the 
business to be transacted is exempt by virtue of paragraph 5 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

20 Enforcement Report 

A report was submitted seeking authorisation to take enforcement 
action against all persons having an interest in land at 23B Randal 
Street, Blackburn, BB1 7HP. 

Background information including grounds for the request were outlined 
in the report.  

RESOLVED - That authorisation be given to the proposed enforcement 

Page 5



Planning & Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th August 2018 

action at 23B Randal Street, Blackburn, BB1 7HP. 

Signed: ………………………………………………

 Date: …………………………………………………

Chair of the meeting
at which the minutes were confirmed

Page 6



   

X:\Planning & Highways\2017\Misc\Declaration of Interest\Declaration of Interest Form.doc 

         
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN  

 
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA 

 
 
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other 
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda 
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if 
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest 
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave 
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form 
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the 
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest 
at the appropriate point on the agenda. 

 
 

MEETING:       PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 
      
DATE:                
 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:   
 
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF): 
 
NATURE OF INTEREST: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate) 
 
 
SIGNED :  

 
PRINT NAME:  

 
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer) 

 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
BACKGROUND PAPERS

There is a file for each planning application containing application forms, consultations, 
representations, Case Officer notes and other supporting information.
Gavin Prescott, Development Manager – Ext 5694.

General Reporting

REPORT NAME: Committee Agenda.

BwD Council - Development Control

Application No

Applicant Site Address Ward

Application Type

10/18/0230

Mr Shaun Readey
The Brook House
Bury Road
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0AR

Old School Grounds
Edgworth
BL7 0PU

North Turton With Tockholes

Full Planning Application for Erection of a single dwellinghouse (C3 Use Class) with associated access, parking and landscaping 
(resubmission of 10/17/0278)

RECOMMENDATION: Refuses

10/18/0396

Mr Sauban Issa
C/o agent

Land and Properties off
Billinge End Road 
Blackburn 
BB2 6PY

Beardwood With Lammack

Full Planning Application for Residential development of 5 no. dwelling following demolition of existing buildings 

RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/18/0502

Mr Mark Gregory
11 Vale Street
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0EB

11 Vale Street
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0EB

West Pennine

Full Planning Application for Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of replacement dwelling

RECOMMENDATION: Permits

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION:  The extent of neighbour notification is shown on the location plans which 
accompany each report. Where neighbours are notified by individual letter, their properties are marked 
with a dot. Where a site notice has been posted, its position is shown with a cross.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION Date: 20/09/2018

 Printed by ADMMXI\Jodie_Carter on 10/09/2018 14:33:10Execution Time: 2 minute(s), 48 second(s)

Page 1 of 1

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



Farm
Croft Gate

Edgworth Views

Brook

ETL

211.5m

423

294

282

9

1

7
6

4

Ryfield House

10

Wheatsheaf

9

17

2

Pa
th 

(u
m)

1

School View

Windyacre

45
1

BLACKBURN ROAD
46

5

306

1

47
5

2

206.3m

10

47
3Hob Lane

Farm

208.2m

GP

213.4m

Dingle Farm

Trough

Dingle Cottage

Path (um)

Hob Lane Bridge

Issues

198.1m

St James'

Greenbank

Mission ChurchBraestone

HOB LANE

Sunnyside
Day Nursery

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR                          Plan No: 10/18/0230

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for Erection of a single dwellinghouse (C3 
Use Class) with associated access, parking and landscaping (resubmission of 10/17/0278)

Site address:
Old School Grounds
Edgworth
BL7 0PU

Applicant: Mr Shaun Readey

Ward: West Pennine

Councillor Colin Rigby 
Councillor Jean Rigby 
Councillor Julie Slater 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4.1



1.0 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1 The proposed development is recommended to be refused planning 
permission for the reasons as stated in paragraph 4.1.

2.0 KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1 This application is presented to the Committee through the Chair Referral 
process in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation.  The proposed 
development has been the subject of wide publicity with the local community.  
As a result, a total of 13no. objections have been received relating to the  
proposal. A summary of the objections is provided at 6.1 below.

2.2 The key issue to be addressed is whether the house would be appropriate 
development in the West Pennine Moors Green Belt, with particular reference 
to the following:

 Local and national planning policy considerations – impact on the 
Green Belt

 Is the design truly outstanding or innovative and does it represent the 
highest standards of architecture?

 Would the design significantly enhance its immediate setting?
 Would the design be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the 

local area?
 The Ecological context
 Highways considerations
 Drainage and related issues

2.3 At the outset, Members are advised that on 24th July 2018, the Government 
replaced the original NPPF with a revised version. Central to the applicant’s 
rationale for the proposed dwelling and to the objections raised against it is 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF (March 2012).

2.4 Paragraph 55 stated: “Local Planning Authorities should avoid new isolated 
homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances such as:

 the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their 
place of work in the countryside; or

 where such development would represent the optimal viable use of a 
heritage asset or would be appropriate enabling development to secure 
the future of heritage assets; or

 where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings 
and lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting; or

 the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the 
dwelling. Such a design should:
- be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of 

design more generally in rural areas;
- reflect the highest standards in architecture;
- significantly enhance its immediate setting; and

Page 10



- be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area.”

2.5 In the new NPPF (July 2018), these issues are dealt with in Paragraph 79, 
which states: “Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development 
of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following 
circumstances apply:

a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking 
majority control of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their 
place of work in the countryside;

b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage 
asset or would be appropriate enabling development to secure the 
future of heritage assets;

c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and 
enhance its immediate setting;

d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential 
dwelling; or

e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in 

architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more 
generally in rural areas; and

- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive 
to the defining characteristics of the local area”.[author’s emphasis]

2.6 It is considered that for the purpose of this assessment, the rationale behind 
the application remains unchanged, and that the only criterion in both the 
original and the new NPPF that the proposed dwelling could aspire to meet 
would be the quality of its design. But to ensure that this report is in 
accordance with latest policy, it will be referring to Paragraph 79 rather than 
Paragraph 55.

2.7 Where Paragraph 79 is referenced already in objectors’ letters, they are 
referring to the paragraph in the original NPPF (March 2012) where the 
purpose of the Green Belt is set out as follows: “The Government attaches 
great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is 
to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence”. This 
wording is incorporated into the new NPPF, unchanged, in Paragraph 133.

3.0 RATIONALE

3.1 Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The site of the proposed development is located alongside Blackburn Road, 
between School View to the south and Wheatsheaf Brook to the north. The 
land lies outside the Edgworth village boundary and within the West Pennine 
Moors, on land designated as Green Belt.

3.1.2 School View, to the south of the site, is comprised of a row of modest stone-
fronted terraced cottages, presenting their rear elevations to Blackburn Road, 

Page 11



most of these rear elevations being rendered and having single storey 
extensions. The cottages are set back from Blackburn Road and separated 
from the main highway by long strips of garden in between. School View is 
located on the northern-most tip of the village boundary.

3.1.3 Wheatsheaf Brook, to the north of the site, runs through a narrow, steeply-
sided valley, with a dense covering of trees and vegetation on both banks. 
The course of the brook, along with the woodland on both banks, forms an 
eastern limb to the Wayoh Reservoir Biological Heritage Site. This 
watercourse, although not in the ownership of United Utilities, feeds the 
Wayoh Impounding Reservoir. The south bank of the Brook and its woodland 
lie within the ownership of the applicant, although this is excluded from the 
proposed curtilage area. The land rises steeply from the Brook towards the 
south and the proposed site for the dwelling.

3.1.4 The application site is not the original school grounds, but land adjacent to the 
school grounds. Access is by way of a rough track that climbs up a steep 
slope from Blackburn Road onto the land proposed for the dwelling.

3.1.5 To the rear of the site is located Edgworth Views, a modern housing 
development off School Lane, also located within the Green Belt. This 
development was formed from buildings that had previously served as a 
school, and therefore represented the redevelopment of a previously 
developed site which, whilst pre-dating the NPPF, accords with Paragraph 
145 of the new Framework.

3.2 Proposed Development

3.2.1 The proposal is for full planning permission to be granted for a detached 
dwelling.

3.2.2 The proposal is the resubmission of planning application 10/17/0278 for two 
detached dwellings which was withdrawn by the applicant on 21st September 
2017.

3.2.3 The rationale for the new application is that the design of the dwelling has 
been “set to meet the criteria of outstanding design under Paragraph 55 (now 
79) of the NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework)”. Members are 
advised that Design Review Panels are set up for the purpose of reviewing 
proposals for Paragraph 79 applications prior to those applications being 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. A presentation is made to the panel 
of proposals and advice is given both verbally at the presentation and later in 
a formal written form to the applicant. The proposed dwelling before the 
Committee has been through such a process (Places Matter Design Review), 
and the matter is discussed further under 3.5.8 below.

3.2.4 The proposed dwelling is comprised of modular box units sunk into the hillside 
on the east of the application site and emerging towards the west in widening 
arc formation. The building is single storey with a flat roof characterised by 
undulating gradual pitches. The grass covering is designed to provide a 

Page 12



continuation of the landscape when viewed from the east. The west-facing 
elevations are characterised by glazed frontages, each modular unit 
comprising of two floor-to-eaves windows/French windows.   The proposed 
dwelling’s total floor area including the garaging, plant rooms and corridor 
links amounts to approximately 745 square metres (8,019 square feet). 

3.2.5 The dwelling is designed in such a way that the dwelling can be occupied 
either as a single dwelling, or as a dwelling with a ‘granny annex’ that can 
have a measure of privacy from the main house. At the outset to this 
application, the main house was to have been made up of four modules 
comprised of an open plan kitchen and communal living space, with separate 
dining room and five en-suite bedrooms. The annex was to have been made 
up of three modules, with similar internal layout but three bedrooms. 

3.2.6 Throughout this application process on-going discussions have been taking 
place between the LPA and the applicant and his agent, mainly centred 
around the principle of residential development in the Green Belt and the 
potential impact of the dwelling on the Green Belt – and this issue is 
addressed further on in this Report. In response to the concerns expressed by 
the LPA, the original proposals have been modified, with one module being 
removed from the main house thereby reducing the number of bedrooms from 
five to three. The communal living space and the annex remain as originally 
proposed. It is these amended plans that are before the Committee.

3.2.7 The main garden area is to the west of the dwelling, between the modules and 
Blackburn Road. Parking is provided to the rear for both the main dwelling and 
the annex, with a large central courtyard to the rear of the main dwelling and 
two smaller grassed areas behind the annex.

3.2.8 Access from Blackburn Road utilises the existing opening, with the driveway 
being located above the southern bank of Wheatsheaf Brook, approaching the 
property on its eastern aspect.   There is also a proposed footpath leading 
from the dwelling to Blackburn Road close to existing residential terrace off 
School Lane. 

3.3 Development Plan

3.3.1 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2 – Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies (December 2015)

Policy 3: The Green Belt
Policy 6: Village Boundaries
Policy 9: Development and the Environment
Policy 41: Landscape
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11: Design

3.3.2 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 1 – The Core Strategy 
(January 2011)

Policy CS5: Locations for New Housing

Page 13



Policy CS14: Green Belt
Policy CS15: Protection and Enhancement of Ecological Assets

3.4 Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2018):

Section 13: Protecting Green Belt Land
Section 15: Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Section 5: Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes
Section 12: Achieving Well-Designed Places

3.5 Assessment

There are seven issues for Members to consider relating to the proposed 
development.  These are:

 Local plan and National planning policy
 Is the design truly outstanding or innovative and does it represent the 

highest standards of architecture?
 Would the design significantly enhance its immediate setting?
 Would the design be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local 

area?
 Ecological context
 Highway considerations
 Drainage and related issues.

Local Plan Policy Considerations. 

3.5.1 The application site is situated outside the Edgworth village boundary and is 
designated in Policy 3 of the Local Plan Part 2 as being located within the 
Green Belt. Policy CS 14 of the Core Strategy (2011) indicated that the 
general extent of the Borough’s Green Belt would be maintained. The 
adoption of Local Plan 2 in December 2015 following consultation on minor 
alterations to its boundaries, amongst other policy issues, left the application 
site unaffected by the changes and still within the Green Belt. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Considerations (2018). 

3.5.2 The National Planning Policy Framework describes the fundamental aim of 
Green Belt policy as being ‘to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open’ – and stating that it is their openness and permanence that 
are the essential characteristics of the Green Belt (NPPF Paragraph 133). The 
NPPF (Paragraph 145) states that a local planning authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
except in the following cases:  

 buildings for agriculture and forestry; 

Page 14



 provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation 
and for cemeteries, as long as it preserves the openness of the Green 
Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land within it; 

 the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result 
in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original 
building; 

 the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same 
use and not materially larger than the one it replaces; 

 limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local 
community needs under policies set out in the Local Plan; or 

 limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing 
use (excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including 
land within it than the existing development.

These requirements are enshrined in Policy 3 of the Local Plan Part 2. The 
proposed development does not conform to any of these categories in 
particular the latter two elements relating to “infilling”.  The application site is 
located outside the main body of the village and there is a clear definition on 
the ground, between the edge of the settlement and the loose arrangement of 
buildings to the south-west, north-west and south-east along Blackburn Road 
and School Lane.  The greener surroundings in which the application site is 
located sets the area apart from the main built-up area and the existing 
buildings along Blackburn Road.   Members are therefore advised that the 
proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

Impact on the openness of the Green Belt

3.5.3 The fundamental aim of the Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts 
are their openness and their permanence.  The application site lies behind a 
roadside dry stone wall and undulating elevated land with pockets of 
landscaping.  Paragraph 3.1.1 to 3.1.5 describes in detail the context of the 
application site with its surroundings.  The application site is at a higher level 
to the road level along Blackburn Road and is partly obscured by the 
undulating land, however the site is visible from the wider area to the west and 
east.  The proposal would result in the introduction of a substantially 
proportioned dwelling and areas of hardstanding (driveway, turning area) that 
is at odds to the immediate surrounding area (745 square metres in total).  
Whilst the proposed design of the dwelling aims to reduce its visual impact by 
utilising the topography of the land and introducing a “green roof” and 
landscaping, it is considered that the proposed dwelling would still introduce a 
prominent substantial presence of a building in an otherwise open landscape.  
As such, Members are advised that the proposal would result in the loss of a 
substantial part of an open area of land to built development, thereby harming 
the openness of the Green Belt. 

3.5.4 In Paragraph 79, the revised NPPF addresses the issue of the development of 
isolated homes in the countryside generally and states this: 

Page 15



3.5.5 “Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated 
homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances 
apply:
a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority 
control of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in 
the countryside;
b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset 
or would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage 
assets;
c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance 
its immediate setting;
d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential 
dwelling; or
e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in 
architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more generally in 
rural areas; and
- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the 
defining characteristics of the local area.”

3.5.6 The term ‘isolated homes in the countryside’ was recently defined in the Court 
of Appeal (Braintree District Council v Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government 2018). In his judgement, Lord Justice Lindblom stated that 
the term “simply differentiates between the development of housing within a 
settlement – or village – and new dwellings that would be ‘isolated’ in the 
sense of being separate or remote from a settlement”. 

3.5.7 The first four statements of Paragraph 79 would not be relevant to the 
proposal before the Committee. For consideration, then, are the criteria at 
point ‘e’, and whether or not the proposed dwelling “is truly outstanding or 
innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and would help to 
raise standards of design more generally in rural areas” and,  “would 
significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area.”

Is the design truly outstanding or innovative and does it represent the highest 
standards of architecture? 

3.5.8 The design of the proposal has been peer reviewed at the pre-application 
stage by Places Matter Design Review Panel, which is a respected method of 
improving the quality of new development by offering constructive, impartial 
and expert advice.   Design Review Panel meetings allow local planning 
authorities, clients, developers and design teams to present their schemes at 
the pre-planning stage to a panel of experts from the built environment sector 
and benefit from the discussion and constructive advice of the panel.  
Specifically, the Places Matter Design Review consists of a panel of 
respected built environment professionals providing expertise from a range of 
fields including:  Development, Architecture, Engineering, Planning, 
Landscape Architecture, Urban Design, Public Art and local planning.

Page 16



3.5.9 The Review Panel’s final response dated 19th January 2018, encouraged the 
applicant to take a step back, to clearly define the narrative of the proposition, 
and then to ensure that they take the design development a stage further on 
to create a more delightful and detailed approach. It went further by advising 
the applicant “that there needs to be a real understanding of the landscape, 
which must not be treated as cosmetic, but as a defining feature of the 
proposition”. At that time the Panel felt the proposal was a “RIBA Stage 
behind that required for a detailed planning submission, particularly a 
paragraph 55 (now 79) application.”

3.5.10 The proposed design is explained in the architects’ amended supporting 
statement dated 5th September 2018 in the following manner:

“Feedback following the Design Review solidified some of the 
exceptional design features previously proposed. In particular the 
design was commended for the courtyard which “opens to the sky” 
breaking the traditional garden typology, re-locating the garden to the 
heart of the home, providing a close connectivity to the outdoors and 
promoting an exceptional quality of health and well-being. Another 
aspect of the design that impressed the Design Review panel - the 
“Slip views” that provide a progressional movement throughout the 
building. Upon arrival, access to the main dwelling is through the open 
courtyard that presents a series of internal vistas that lead the 
occupants around the home. 
“In response to ‘Paragraph 79e’ of the NPPF, the proposed dwelling 
has a strong environmental remit. A Septic Tank will be installed, 
constructing a bore hole too, that recycles grey water into fresh water 
for the family and reducing the dependency on the local utility 
infrastructure. Another environmental design aspect is the installation 
of a Ground Source Heat Pump, which will heat the home using the 
substructure. Despite a need for electricity to be supplied to the new 
dwelling, the ground source heat pump will reduce the overall electricity 
consumption.
“The proposed dwelling provides a range of thermal properties, both 
natural and man-made. Firstly, the home is naturally insulated as one 
side of the building is built into the embankment. Secondly, the dwelling 
is to be constructed out of ICF - Insulated Concrete Formwork. This 
allows the home to be constructed rapidly, reducing construction time 
and minimising disruption to the neighbouring properties. This highly 
innovative form of construction is 40% more efficient than conventional 
construction. The central courtyard allows the home to be naturally 
ventilated and heated with cross flow ventilation throughout the building 
and solar gain. The proposed renewable energies will ‘raise standards 
of design more generally in rural areas’ and make people aware of the 
possibilities of dwellings that can be environmentally friendly using 
natural assets of these rural areas. 
“An important aspect of the design is to ensure it harmonises with the 
existing local vernacular and aesthetic. The external finishes have 
taken precedent from the existing immediate context. Local stone will 
be applied to the dwelling, promoting local businesses, reducing travel 

Page 17



distances of loading on site and ensuring the dwelling is ‘sensitive to 
the defining characteristics of the local area… 
“The proposed dwelling merges the roof into the existing topography, 
lowering the building into the ground and allowing a minimal impact to 
the immediate properties with NO visual intrusion, yet creates landmark 
architecture on the peninsula outcrop”.

3.5.11 It is considered that the design is in accordance with the requirements of 
Policy 11 of the Local Plan 2 in expressing a high quality architectural style.   
The proposal is a bespoke response to the site and the surroundings.  The 
structure is considered to work well, splaying out from the hillside, the modular 
structure and grassed-roof form integrating well. The insulated concrete 
structure is proposed for giving efficiency of construction and minimising 
disruption to neighbouring properties. The finished building includes dry stone 
wall cladding, a material that takes account of the surrounding vernacular. 
Glazing is of good proportion and sufficient to allow light into the interior of the 
dwelling, which is additionally lit – and ventilated – by the open central 
courtyard.

3.5.12 The assessment, however, is not whether the proposal is vernacular or 
modern/incongruous, but rather whether it is a truly outstanding or innovative 
design and helps raise the standard of design more generally in the rural area. 
More specifically, the assessment must determine whether or not the design 
is of such outstanding quality as to negate the general presumption against 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

3.5.13 Whilst submission documents describe the building as ‘innovative’, the 
dwelling is not considered to be so. The modular style of the living 
accommodation, the materials proposed to be used in the dwelling’s 
construction, and the use of renewable technologies are known and used in 
the construction industry, and therefore not considered to be innovative. The 
employment of the sloping landscape into which to insert the building has 
been previously used also; and although providing a high quality design 
response to the question of integrating a new dwelling into the Green Belt site, 
the proposal is not considered to be so outstanding or innovative as to 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.

3.5.14 In considering an appeal against a refusal for a Paragraph 55 (now 79) house 
in Solihull, an Inspector noted the evolution of the design following analysis 
and critique from a design review panel; and although there were strong 
positives in the proposal, found that the design “would not elevate the building 
to such a level that it would clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness” (decision dated 8th May 2018 - appeal reference 
APP/Q4625/W/17/3189652). Similarly in the application before Committee, it 
is considered that there are strong positives within the design that, in a 
countryside area might tip the balance in favour of the proposal. However, 
given the status of the application site as Green Belt, it is considered that the 
harm accrued would not be outweighed by the design.

Page 18



Would the design significantly enhance its immediate setting? 

3.5.15The immediate setting is comprised of a wide expanse of unimproved 
grassland habitat. The land banks up towards the site from Blackburn Road 
on its western side. To the east the land continues in open vein across the 
former school playing field to Edgworth Views. To the south the land is 
bounded by School View, a small row of terraced dwellings whose gable end 
abuts the northern boundary of the village of Edgworth. To the north the land 
drops steeply to Wheatsheaf Brook. The application site, with its relatively 
wide frontage set above Blackburn Road, represents a definite visual break, 
marking a point where the village of Edgworth tapers out at School View and 
giving way to open countryside that drops down on the northern side of the 
site to Wheatsheaf Brook.

3.5.16 The Design Review Panel expressed a view that there needed to be “a real 
understanding of the landscape, which must not be treated as cosmetic, but 
as a defining feature of the proposition”. The submitted Ecological 
Management Plan demonstrates to a degree that this advice has been acted 
upon. The woodland, which lies outside the designated curtilage, is proposed 
to have bird and bat box provision installed. The grassland upon which the 
proposed dwelling is to be sited is to remain in situ and is designated as an 
‘enhanced grassland management’ area, with the sowing of appropriate wild 
flower grassland seed, and with native fruit trees and hedgerow marking the 
eastern boundary of the site.

3.5.17 However, a fundamental aim of Green Belt policy, as set out in Paragraph 133 
of the NPPF, is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open, 
with openness and permanence identified as being two of the essential 
characteristics of Green Belt.

3.5.18 To this extent, introducing a dwelling to this site would result in built 
development where there is presently none. Even with the proposal to merge 
the dwelling into the hillside and to manage the landscape around it, the 
emergence of the dwelling on its western aspect, and the projection of the 
building and roof above, is considered to have an unacceptable impact on the 
openness and permanence of the Green Belt, notwithstanding the presence of 
the ribbon of terraced dwellings to the south of the site. Consequently, it is 
considered that the design fails to significantly enhance the immediate setting, 
contrary to Policies 3 and 8 of Local Plan Part 2 and the NPPF.

Would the design be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area?

3.5.19 Earlier this year, a subterranean dwelling house in a field in Egerton, Bolton, 
was dismissed at appeal (decision dated 15th May 2018 – appeal reference 
APP/N4205/W/18/3192935). The design was found to have won the Northern 
Design Awards 2016, that it would take into account the topography of the 
site, the materials would take into account those used in the setting, and that it 

Page 19



would be carbon neutral and eco-friendly. However, the proposed dwelling 
was not considered by the Inspector to be isolated, in that its site, although 
lying in Green Belt, was also located close to a settlement. She considered 
that the bullet point allowing for ‘exceptional or innovative design’ was 
therefore not relevant and the development remained inappropriate. What is 
considered of particular relevance in this case is that, where a development 
site is located within the Green Belt, but is also in close proximity to a built-up 
area, the site’s defining characteristics is drawn from both, and the proposed 
development must take account of both.

3.5.20 The wider context in which the application site is located encompasses the 
northernmost tip of the village of Edgworth, the woods along the watercourse 
that feeds into Wayoh Reservoir and open countryside to the east and west.

3.5.21 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF relates to isolated dwellings in the countryside. In 
geographical terms, the proposed dwelling is not isolated, but is proposed for 
land that abuts the village boundary and the terraced dwellings on School 
View. The context required to be assessed by Policy 11 of the Local Plan Part 
2 therefore includes taking into account the built and landscape features in 
which the development is to be set (11. 2.i)) and the long distance views of 
and into the development (11. 3.vii)).

3.5.22 The village boundary is drawn in such a way that, journeying northwards 
along Blackburn Road, the village of Edgworth integrates gradually into the 
surrounding countryside – the School View properties being set above the 
main road to the east, and the village boundary projecting further out on the 
west side to encompass the buildings at Hob Lane Farm. The fields then fall 
away to Wheatsheaf Brook. And so the vista currently looks over the dry 
stone walling, with unimpeded views of the tops of the trees that line the 
Brook. The proximity of the proposed dwelling to the village is such that it 
changes the nature of the relationship between the site and Edgworth. 
Notwithstanding the proposal to utilising stone as a vernacular material in the 
dwelling’s construction, it is considered that the proposal fails to connect with 
the movement from the newer dwellings located further into the village, to the 
more traditional rural cottages and farm buildings that stand against its 
northern boundary. 

3.5.23 Moreover, it is considered that the proposed new dwelling would have a 
greater footprint and be higher and bulkier than the buildings within the 
immediate setting. On that basis, it would result in the introduction of a 
significant quantum of development into what is currently a relatively 
development-free area, resulting in loss of openness contrary to the 
exceptions regarding development in the green belt set out in the NPPF. It is 
considered that introducing the urban form of the building and its environs into 
the landscape compromises the village boundary and significantly harms the 
Green Belt landscape as it stretches away from the village towards the Brook 
and encroaches into the Green Belt gap between Blackburn Road and 
Edgworth Views. It is therefore considered that the proposed development 
fails to be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area. The 
incongruous nature of the form of the development is insensitive to the 

Page 20



manner in which the village tapers off into countryside and to the setting of 
Wheatsheaf Brook.

3.5.24 Approaching the site from the north, Blackburn Road drops down from Dingle 
Farm to Hob Lane Bridge, where the road crosses Wheatsheaf Brook. The 
road bends slightly eastwards, with the trees thinning out beyond the Brook. 
The vista encompasses Hob Lane Farm at the top of the rise to the west, with 
the application site being on the hillside to the left (east) of the highway. 
Currently, the village opens gently, with the School View cottages being 
visible only above their eaves level. It is towards the North and the Brook that 
the proposed dwelling presents the most prominent aspect of its form, with the 
roof being a rising feature that breaks into the vista. Irrespective of the 
landscape proposals, it is considered that the urban form would be an abrupt 
interruption in the landscape, in the open skyline and the open approach to 
Edgworth. Moreover, it is considered that the urbanisation of the site would be 
detrimental to the setting and experience of Wheatsheaf Brook. 

3.5.25 Existing views along School Lane to the east provide an open vista between 
Edgworth Villas, adjacent to the Lane, and the terraced dwellings along 
School View in the background. The view for walkers through the gap 
provided by the original playing fields and the application site is of the 
woodland that lines the course of Wheatsheaf Brook and the hills beyond. The 
proposed dwelling would be substantially screened from view, although it is 
not considered likely that the developed site would fully integrate with the 
wider field network. However, this openness of the land formed part of the 
reason for the Inspector upholding the Council’s decision to refuse a planning 
application for two dwellings on land to the south side of School Lane 
(Application reference: 10/16/0134, Appeal Reference: 
APP/M2372/W/16/3150769, dated 8th September 2016). The proposed 
dwelling, if approved, may add to the pressure to continue development into 
the Green Belt along School Lane as an ‘infill’ up to Edgworth Views. 

3.5.26 With regards to the built characteristics of the setting: the immediate area to 
the south of the site comprises the end of the village envelope and is 
characterised by a small cluster of stone built dwellings around Hob Lane and 
School lane which contribute to a distinctive village townscape representing a 
former pre-industrial hamlet. The proposed dwelling would have a significantly 
larger footprint and mass and in its emergence from the hillside would appear 
dominant in the countryside setting which would be at odds with the tight grain 
and modest proportions of the existing buildings and detract from the 
openness of the Green Belt. The use of modular buildings splaying out across 
a wide footprint within this context is considered at odds with the simpler 
proportions and modest character of the rural Pennine vernacular. In this 
respect they are considered to fail the criteria set out in Policy 11 of Local 
Plan 2 in that they fail to complement local character.

3.5.27 Paragraphs 5.10 and 5.11 of the Supporting Planning Statement make the 
case that the proposed dwelling represents infill dwelling and therefore has 
limited impact on the Green Belt. Paragraph 3.5.2 above illustrates why it is 
considered that the proposed development is not “infill development”.  It is 

Page 21



considered that infill development is applicable to village development only 
and does not constitute an exception to Green Belt development, either in the 
NPPF or the Local Plan Part 2. The land is open to the north, east and west of 
the application site. Development therefore would not represent infilling but, 
by its proximity to Edgworth, it would appear as an extension to the village 
boundary (rather than being an isolated dwelling in the Green Belt). 
Paragraphs 133 and 136 of the NPPF emphasise the permanence of Green 
Belt and that ‘Green Belt boundaries should be altered only in exceptional 
circumstances’.

3.5.28 In these respects, the proposal is considered to be insensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the area, contrary to Policies 3, 8 and 11 of the Local Plan 2 
and the NPPF.

Ecological context:

3.5.29 Policy 9 of the Local Plan Part 2 sets out specific considerations in terms of 
the ecological context of the development if the proposed dwelling is to 
significantly enhance its immediate setting in accordance with Paragraph 79 
of the NPPF.

3.5.30 The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal submitted with the application indicated 
that the development will result in the levelling of areas of unimproved 
grassland habitat (Paragraph 4.1), which would represent a net loss of 
biodiversity on site and would therefore be contrary to the aims of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in aiming to achieve sustainable 
development and the obligations on public bodies to conserve and enhance 
biodiversity as required by the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 
(NERC) Act 2006.

3.5.31 However, the Ecological Management Plan’ referred to at 1.4 and 3.96 of the 
Appraisal has since been submitted. Principle in its summary of the site’s 
significance is the potential of the woodland and brook on the northern 
boundary of the development to provide habitats for various species. The 
semi-natural woodland is part of the Biological Heritage Site providing ‘high’ 
bird nesting potential, and ‘low’ to ‘moderate’ bat roosting potential. The 
woodland and watercourse provide a potential ‘dark corridor’ for commuting 
otters, whilst the Brook itself offers ‘good habitat for white-clawed crayfish due 
to lack of disturbance from humans/livestock, the rocky substrata and good 
water clarity’ (paragraphs 5.3, 5.2, 5.7 and 5.8). Badger paw prints were noted 
in the north-east corner of the site. 

3.5.32 The Ecological Management Plan (EMP) has been assessed by Capita 
Ecology on behalf of the Council. The EMP has demonstrated that 
development mitigation proposals would result in a positive management and 
enhancement of areas of unimproved grassland habitat and enhancement to 
the Biological Heritage Site. This is therefore considered to be a net gain for 
biodiversity on the site and therefore in accordance with both the NPPF and 
Policy CS15 of the adopted Core Strategy, which requires the Borough’s 
ecological assets to be protected, enhanced and managed with the aim of 

Page 22



establishing and preserving functional networks which facilitate the movement 
of species and populations, and so helping achieve sustainable development. 
The Ecological Management Plan would need to be secured by condition, 
should the Committee approved the application, along with the requirement to 
plan for the eradication of Japanese knotweed.

3.5.33 The proposed site for the septic tank, received only on the 5th September, 
appears to be right on or outside of the curtilage of the proposed dwelling, on 
the edge of the woodland to the north-east of the development site. This 
proposal is considered to be contrary to Policy 9 of Local Plan 2. Capita 
Ecology have provided additional comments on this. The presence of the 
septic tank and road curtilage immediately adjacent to the Wayoh Reservoir
Biological Heritage Site represents an indirect and direct risk to ground water, 
disturbance and increased pressure upon the habitats through access, light 
spill, nutrients, and water quality. Its current siting is considered to be an 
infringement of a buffer area between the development and the Biological 
heritage Site. According to the design the septic tank is located under a tree. 
There are concerns as to the practicalities of installation and access during 
normal operations due to the location and long-term survival of the tree. 

3.5.34 The Environment Agency have refrained from commenting directly on this 
matter, but advise that the operator of a septic tank or small sewage treatment 
plant must check to see if they meet the General Binding Rules, and if not 
must then apply for an Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency.   
Further comments on the proposed siting of the septic tank from the Council’s 
Drainage Engineers will be reported in the Update Report. 

3.5.35 It is noted that septic tank is located under a tree. The proposal fails to 
consider the practicalities of installation and access during normal operations, 
and would result in interference in the root protection area and potential root 
perforation of the tank. The proposal is therefore considered to undermine the 
Ecological Management Plan. If the Committee is minded to approve the 
application, it is advised that the decision be deferred to allow time for 
negotiating a more acceptable site for the septic tank.

Highways considerations:

3.5.36 Policy 10 of Local Plan 2 requires development to ensure that the safe, 
efficient and convenient movement of all highway users is not prejudiced and 
that appropriate provision is made for vehicular access and parking in 
accordance with the Council’s adopted standards. Measures are required by 
the policy to encourage access by foot and bicycle.

3.5.37 The existing vehicular access currently allows for irregular access into the 
field which forms the application site. It is noted that this gated entrance 
requires vehicles to turn into and pull out of the site at a point along the 
highway located in a valley between steep gradients where vehicle speeds 
are permitted up to 40mph. The entrance to the site is not clearly visible from 
the northern approach until Hob Lane Bridge is reached. Adequate sightlines 
have not been demonstrated on the plans, and visibility for drivers exiting the 

Page 23



application site is likely to be difficult. The requirement to improve sightlines is 
considered likely to compromise the trees and natural habitats along the 
Brook. It is considered that road safety and the safe, efficient and convenient 
movement of all highway users is not secured, and the proposals therefore 
not in accordance with Policy 10 of the Local Plan 2.

3.5.38 The Council’s parking standards requirements associated with the application 
are based on the number of bedrooms. The property is to have three 
bedrooms in the main area and three in the annex. Highways comments treat 
the dwelling as two dwellings, which would equate to an allowance of three 
spaces per property.  However, the application is being assessed as a single 
dwelling (and would be conditioned to remain as such if being recommended 
for approval). The details offer four parking spaces to the rear of the site, (the 
space dimensions being adequate). Parking arrangements are considered 
satisfactory and in accordance with Policy 10.

3.5.39 The lack of footpath alongside the highway between the site and the village is 
to be mitigated by a proposed pedestrian walkway along the walled 
embankment that fronts the site. Whilst this is considered to be in accordance 
with Policy 10 lack of detail as to how the path will visually affect the 
embankment and how it will break out of the site to join the highway makes an 
assessment of its impact on the setting difficult.

Drainage and related issues.

3.5.40 The watercourse adjacent to the proposed development site feeds Wayoh 
Impounding Reservoir and it is critical that water quality is protected, in 
accordance with Policy 9 of the Local Plan 2. It would appear that appropriate 
protection measures have been identified and agreed directly between the 
applicant and United Utilities (confirmed by both). The applicant has 
forwarded a list of catchment provisions that United Utilities would expect 
them to follow. These are general provisions dealing with fuel, plant and 
machinery, pesticides, and spillages. United Utilities have confirmed that they 
are happy with the proposals.

3.5.41 Whilst the amended plans show water run-off being directed down the 
driveway to a soakaway, general details relating to drainage have not been 
provided, although requested. However,  the Committee is advised that a 
request for more detailed information can be conditioned should the 
Committee decide to approve the application.

3.5.42 Details have been provided in regards to the discharge of human waste into a 
septic tank, and have been assessed at 3.5.32 and 33 above.

Conclusion

3.5.43 To conclude: Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that “The Government 
attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green belt 
policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 

Page 24



essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence”.

3.5.44 Paragraph79e of the NPPF requires decisions to avoid the development of 
isolated homes in the countryside unless the design is of exceptional quality, 
in that it:
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in 
architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more generally in 
rural areas; and
- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the 
defining characteristics of the local area.

3.5.45 It is considered that:
- whilst being a high quality design, the proposed dwelling does not meet the 
criteria for being truly outstanding or innovative;
- that the immediate setting is not enhanced in that, whilst the proposals 
provide mitigation for the impact of the setting, the proposed dwelling would 
lead to the loss of openness and permanence to land in the Green Belt;
- that, whilst showing awareness of local materials, the dwelling fails to be 
sensitive to the overall defining characteristics of the local area as set out in 
3.5.19 above.

4.0 RECOMMENDATION

4.1 The proposed development is recommended to be refused planning 
permission for the following reasons:

 The proposal is considered to represent inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt as defined by Paragraph 145 of the NPPF. There are no 
special circumstances that would outweigh the harm caused to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and the harm caused to the 
openness and permanence to the of the Green Belt.  As such, the 
proposal would be contrary to the requirements of Paragraphs 143, 
144 and 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2018) 
and Policy 3 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

 The proposed dwelling fails to meet the criteria within Paragraph 79 of 
the NPPF by virtue of it not being a truly exceptional, outstanding or 
innovative design and which would harm the defining characteristics of 
the local area due to it being detrimental to the character and visual 
amenity of the surrounding area, contrary to Paragraph 79 of the NPPF 
and Policy 11 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

 The proposed dwelling, by virtue of its scale and position in relation to 
both the adjacent built and natural environment, has failed to 
adequately address the connection between the development, the 
Green Belt and the end-of-village setting, contrary to Paragraphs 127 
and 131of the NPPF (2018) and Policy 11 of the Local Plan Part 2.

 The proposed dwelling, by virtue of the characteristics of Blackburn 
Road and its position in relation to the bend to the north of Hob Lane 
Bridge, has failed to demonstrate adequate sightlines to ensure clear 

Page 25



visibility is achievable when exiting the site. Furthermore, to achieve 
the required site lines would require the removal of trees along the 
Blackburn Road frontage which would cause further harm to the visual 
amenities of the area contrary to Policies 10 and 11 of the Blackburn 
with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.

 The proposed dwelling, by virtue of the position of the septic tank, has 
failed to adequately address the potential harm to the trees and 
adjacent watercourse of the development, contrary to Policies 8 and 9 
of the Local Plan Part 2.

5.0 PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 10/17/0278 - Proposed erection of 2no. detached dwelling houses and new 
access road. Application withdrawn 21st September 2017.

5.2 10/87/1713 - Construction of a vehicular access off Blackburn Road. Refused 
under delegated powers 16th December 1987.

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

6.1 30 neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was erected. 13 
letters of objection have been received (Copies of the objection can be found 
in Section 9). The objections can be summarised as follows:

 Land is in the Green Belt and development would harm its openness.
 Land is beyond the recognised limits of the village.
 Access is on a dangerous bend and close to a dangerous rise.
 Application form and documentation wrong or misleading.
 Danger of Wheatsheaf Brook being contaminated by construction 

materials and chemicals.
 Ownership of land adjacent to the Wheatsheaf Brook disputed ( the 

applicant has responded by providing land registry documents to 
illustrate that they are the owners of the application site as defined 
within the red and blue boundaries).

 Development site is not infill but outside the development boundary of 
Edgworth Village.

 Construction of oversized dwelling on the site would result in 
development where currently there is none.

 Development is not affordable housing.
 Development is contrary to fundamental aim of keeping the Green Belt 

open – the loss of openness would be significant. The introduction of 
access gates and the domestication of the countryside harmful to 
visual amenity.

 Design and layout not in keeping with adjoining dwellings due to size 
and modern appearance.

 Size of the development dwarfs School View.
 Site overlooked by windows in Edgworth Views.

Page 26



 The proposed building would be detrimental to a footpath across the 
field.

 Detrimental to wildlife – bats, owls, badgers and deer.
 Access onto Blackburn Road from the property dangerous owing to 

bend and trees obscuring view. The proposal would aggravate traffic 
congestion.

 Design does not conform to Paragraph 55 (now 79) of the NPPF – 
does not raise standards of design, nor be sensitive to or significantly 
enhance the immediate setting.

 If approved, a precedent could be set, making further Green Belt 
development difficult to resist.

 A clear statement needs to be made about the safe or allowable 
distance that a dwelling can be erected in relation to a Biological 
Heritage Site. What will the long term effects of a building so close to a 
BHS be on wildlife and on the watercourse?

 The legality of building on a BHS.

6.2 Public Protection. No objections on environmental health grounds.

6.3 United Utilities. The proposed development is on water catchment land that is 
not in the ownership of United Utilities. The watercourse adjacent to the 
proposed development site feeds Wayoh Impounding Reservoir and it is 
critical we protect water quality. To afford appropriate protection to water 
quality, United Utilities require additional information to inform their formal 
response to the application. Matters for discussion would include potential site 
drainage and potential construction methods.

6.4 Arboricultural Manager. Trees along Wheatsheaf Brook have protected status. 
Therefore a tree survey would normally be required prior to determination.

6.5 Drainage. We have no objections to the proposals but require the following 
condition: “Prior to commencement of the development a drainage scheme 
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The drainage scheme must include detailed design of any soakaway which 
must be compliant with BRE Digest 365. The drainage scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details, prior to occupation of 
the development. REASON: To ensure a safe form of development that poses 
no unacceptable risk of flooding and water pollution in accordance with Policy 
9 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.”

6.6 North Turton Parish Council. The Parish Council has no objection in principle 
to the erection of a dwelling on this site, but objects to the siting of the 
proposed access, on the grounds that it is unsafe, located in a dip on a blind 
bend within a 40mph section of road.

6.7 Highways. Although the description suggests a single dwelling house, the 
drawings depict 2 properties. The parking requirements associated with the 

Page 27



application are based on the no of beds.  Each property is to have 4beds+ 
which would equate to an allowance of 3 spaces per property.  The details 
offer two parking spaces within a double garage, (the space dimensions are 
adequate). There is no mention on where the third parking space is to be 
accommodated. Vehicular access to the site is form an existing gated farm 
entrance.  No details of sightlines have been offered. These need to be 
received to ensure clear visibility is achievable when exiting the site. Any 
gates to be located should be set back at least a car width in from the edge of 
the carriageway. The most crucial aspect of the site is safety of vehicles when 
exiting the site. This has not been presented within the details received with 
the submission.  

6.8 Ecology. No objection is held in relation to ecological receptors. The 
proposals offer compensation and enhancement for the Wayoh Reservoir 
Biological Heritage Site and provide potential gains for biodiversity through 
the sympathetic management of the land. However, encroachment on the 
Green Belt will be a consideration, Green belt being essential in managing 
growth and preventing urban sprawl. If the application is to be approved, the 
Environmental management Plan should be reinforced by condition to ensure 
its recommendations are carried out. Non-invasive plant species should be 
remediated. The septic tank location is close to a brook and reservoir and 
represents a risk to groundwater. Its proximity to a tree risks interference in 
the root protection area and potential root perforation of the tank.

7.0 CONTACT OFFICER:  John Wilson, Planner. 01254 585142.

8.0 DATE PREPARED: 11th September 2018

Page 28



9.0 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Objection Mr Andrew Tighe, 1 School View, Edgworth, Rec - 28/03/2018

Page 29



Objection (2) Mr Andrew Tighe, 1 School View, Edgworth. Rec - 15/08/2018

Page 30



Objection K & S Naylor, Ryfield House, School Lane, Edgworth. Rec – 03/04/2018

Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Objection (2) K & S Naylor, Ryfield House, School Lane, Edgworth. Rec – 16/08/2018

Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Objection Hannah & James Stokes, 5 Edgworth Views, School Lane, Edgworth. (On behalf 
of 16 residents). Rec – 05/04/2018

Page 41



Objection (2) Hannah & James Stokes, 5 Edgworth Views, School Lane, Edgworth. Rec – 
08/06/2018

Page 42



Objection Mrs Michele Openshaw, 3 School View, School Lane, Edgworth. Rec – 
06/04/2018 

Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Objection Mr & Mrs Kenyon, 3 Edgworth Views, School Lane, Edgworth. Rec – 08/04/2018

Page 46



Objection Mr & Mrs Whittaker, 1 Edgworth Views, School Lane, Edgworth. 

Page 47



Objection G Gardner-Boyes, School View, Edgworth. Rec – 10/04/2018

Page 48



Page 49



Objection Jack Shaw, 5 School View, Edgworth. Rec – 12/04/2018

Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Objection Mrs G Curtis. 17 School View, Edgworth. Rec – 16/04/2018

Page 53



Objection Colin John Wilkinson, 7 School View, Edgworth. Rec – 16/04/2018

Page 54



Objection Paul Smedley, 9 Edgworth Views, School Lane, Turton. Rec – 16/04/2018

Page 55



Objection Neil Isherwood, 9 School View, Edgworth. Rec – 17/04/2018

Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Objection (2) Neil Isherwood & Shameem Ahmed, 9 School View, Edgworth. Rec – 
03/09/2018

Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Objection David & Zoe Greenhalgh, Windy Acre, School Lane, Edgworth. Rec – 17/07/2018

Objection John Richardson, Hill Top Farm. Rec -16/04/2018

Page 62



Objection (2) John Richardson, Hill Top Farm. Rec – 24/04/2018

Page 63



Path
 (u

m)

Billinge Wood

11
19

29

Barcroft

159.4m

Westbourne

Woodgates Ramscroft House

Farm

Pittarrow

Dunscar

Newlyns

Path (um
)

Kenolbri

178.6m

Brae Crest

El Sub Sta

Langdale

9a

193.9m

9

Billinge Side

WOODGATES

ROAD

204.2m

The Braids

Well

Boxtree

Witton Country Park

Highwood

Westwood

Westmead

MEINS ROAD

Sandhurst
Lindene

BILLINGE END ROAD

Woodgates

Woodhenge

WOODGATES ROAD

Thorpe

Sheraton

Overdale Silverdale

Car
Park

Stonegarth

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR                          Plan No: 10/18/0396

Proposed development: Full Planning Applicationfor Residential development of 5 no. 
dwelling following demolition of existing buildings

Site address: Land and Properties off Billinge End Road, Blackburn, BB2 6PY

Applicant: Mr Sauban Issa

Ward: Billinge & Beardwood 

Councillor Jackie Floyd
Councillor Julie Daley 
Councillor Tasleem Fazal 

Page 64

Agenda Item 4.2



1.0 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1 APPROVE – Subject to recommended conditions (see section 4.0)

2.0 KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1 The proposal will deliver a high quality housing scheme consistent with the 
Council’s planning strategy for growth and widening the choice of 
accommodation within the Borough. The proposal is also satisfactory from a 
technical point of view, with all issues having been addressed through the 
application, or capable of being controlled or mitigated through planning 
conditions.

3.0 RATIONALE

3.1 Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site comprises 8 no. existing residential properties on Billinge 
End Road, Blackburn. The existing properties, which are sited in a liner 
formation, from west to east are known as Sheraton, Silverdale, Woodhenge, 
Thorpe, Highwood, The Braids, Westwood and Boxtree. A private tennis court 
also lies within the application site, on land associated with The Braids. 

3.1.2 The existing dwellings are all detached, large family homes but differ in style 
and design, although most of the properties are constructed out of red brick, 
with some incorporating areas of white render and are either two or three 
storeys in height. The existing dwellings are set back some considerable 
distance from the road and at a lower level: there is a significant fall in levels 
from street level to the centre of the plots where most of the existing 
properties are situated. All the existing properties have vehicular access taken 
from Billing End Road to the south.

3.1.3 The site is bounded to the west by a further 4no. detached dwellings, the 
nearest property being Linden. The application site and those 4 units are all 
situated within the urban boundary.  Beyond Billinge End Road to the south 
lies an area of woodland, whilst a bridle way bounds much of the site’s 
northern boundary, with the remainder formed by an un-adopted section of 
Woodgates Road. Also in close proximity are large detached properties to the 
north and Billinge Side, a traditional terrace holding an elevated position 
above Billinge End Road, to the south east. 

3.2 Proposed Development

3.2.1 Full planning approval is sought for the demolition of 8no. existing dwellings 
and redevelopment of the site to provide 5no. detached dwellings, with 
associated access, boundary treatment and landscaping.

3.2.2 The replacement dwellings will remain orientated with their principle elevation 
to the south, facing Bilinge End Road. The natural contours of the site have 
been utilised to insert a lower ground floor to the rear of the properties. This 
ensures the scale of the buildings to the South, facing the highway are 

Page 65



maintained as 2 storey, while advantage is taken of the longer views to the 
North from all 3 storeys with terraces to the main living spaces.

3.2.3 The buildings have an irregular footprint, but the basic dimensions have a 
depth of 18m and a width of 29.75m, rising to 43.55m when including the 
adjoined single storey garage block. The principle elevation has a floor to 
ridge height of 9.2m, however due to the site’s topography the rear elevation 
has three storeys and would be 12.3m in height. The proposed dwellings are 
all of the same design, though some are mirrored. 

3.2.4 The houses take their influence from neo-classical architecture, incorporating 
pediment details and columns providing a recessed entrance canopy. 
Recesses and bays have been utilised to add articulation and interest to the 
elevation. Large traditional timber sash windows with simple fenestration have 
principally been employed, though the rear elevation does also incorporate 
patio windows and french doors opening out on to terraces. The materials 
used for the proposed dwellings are red facing brick, with natural stone 
detailing and a blue slate roof.

3.2.5 The proposal also provides for new driveway accesses connecting to Billinge 
End Road. The new driveway is to be formed with self-binding gravel with a 
brick sett edge detailing. The existing boundary treatment is also to be 
replaced. The wall fronting Billinge End Road will be in approximately the 
same location as that currently in-situ, ranging from 1.2m to 1.5m in height 
and constructed of red brick with stone pillars and coping detail. The rear 
boundary will include a 1.5m high retaining wall due to level differences 
between the site and the adjacent bridleway., which is again to be faced with 
red brick and stone pillars and coping detail. In addition a 500mm railing detail 
is also included to offer security. The internal boundaries are to be formed by 
close boarded timber fencing, 1.5m in height at the front of the properties, and 
1.8m to the rear of the plots.

.Development Plan

3.2.5 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan 
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In 
determining the current proposal, the following are considered to be the most 
relevant policies:

3.2.6 Core Strategy

 CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
 CS5 - Locations for New Housing
 CS6 – Housing Targets
 CS7 – Types of Housing
 CS8 – Affordable Housing Requirements
 CS13 – Environmental Strategy
 CS16 – Form and Design of New Development

Page 66



3.2.7 Local Plan Part 2

 Policy 1 – The Urban Boundary 
 Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
 Policy 8 – Development and People
 Policy 9 – Development and the Environment 
 Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport
 Policy 11 – Design
 Policy 18 – Housing Mix
 Policy 40 – Integrating Green Infrastructure and Ecological Networks 

with New Development

3.3 Other Material Planning Considerations

3.3.1 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 

This document provides targeted advice to ensure high quality new homes. It 
aims to ensure that new development reflects the individual and collective 
character of areas of the Borough and promotes high standards of design. 
The document also seeks to ensure a good relationship between existing and 
proposed development in terms of protecting and enhancing amenity. 

3.3.2 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – 2018: 

3.3.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (Framework) is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. The Framework sets out a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, which is the “golden thread” running 
through both plan-making and decision-taking. Paragraph 11 of the 
Framework explains that for decision taking, this means approving 
development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay. 
Section 5 of the Framework relates to delivering a wide choice of high quality 
homes, and Section 8 relates to promoting healthy communities.

4.0 ASSESSMENT

4.1 In assessing this application there are a number of important material 
considerations that need to be taken into account as follows:

 Principle;
 Highways and Access;
 Design and Layout;
 Aboricultural Impact
 Amenity Impact;
 Drainage; 
 Ecology; and
 Affordable Housing.

Page 67



4.2 Principle of Development:

Policy 1 of the Local Plan states that the defined Urban Area is to be the 
preferred location for new development. Development in the Urban Area will 
be granted planning permission where it complies with the other policies of 
this Local Plan and the Core Strategy. The site is located within the urban 
area boundary defined on the proposals map.

4.2.1 Policy 7 on Sustainable and Viable Development echoes the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development set out in the NPPF. Thus, applications 
that accord with policies in the Local Plan will be approved without delay 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.2.2 Core Strategy Policy CS5: Locations for New Housing identifies the preferred 
location for new housing as being within the inner urban areas of Blackburn 
and Darwen, beyond this housing development will also take place in 
accessible locations elsewhere within the urban area, where it is 
demonstrated that market conditions mean it cannot be delivered in the inner 
urban areas. Given the development amounts to a replacement housing 
scheme there is clear justification in considering the proposal as meeting the 
secondary test within the policy. The proposal is also consistent with Policy 
CS7 which indicates that a range of housing will be required in order to widen 
the choice available in the local market. The policy identifies specific 
categories of housing that includes at section (iii) housing that meets the 
needs of high wage earners; ‘higher market’ and ‘executive homes’.

4.2.3 Policy CS6 provides guidance on housing targets within the borough. The 
policy is now out of date following the adoption of the revised NPPF, though it 
is still fair to conclude that at present the borough has an under-provision in 
terms of housing delivery. This forms the basis for a number of the public 
objections, which in simple terms offer the position that the Council should not 
in principle support the removal of eight units to provide five new homes, ie a 
net reduction of three. When appraising this position Members should be 
mindful of recent appeal decisions, notably including that linked to application 
10/17/478, where the Inspector concluded that proposals that only have a 
minor impact upon the overall delivery of housing targets should afford 
significant weight to the other policy assessments. Thus the matter of the net 
reduction should be weighed in the planning balance, but not be an absolute 
position dictating the overall success of the application.

4.3 Highways and Access:

4.3.1 Core Strategy Policy 22: Accessibility Strategy and Local Plan Policy 10: 
Accessibility and Transport, aim to ensure that new developments provide 
appropriate provision for access, car parking and servicing so as to ensure the 
safe, efficient and convenient movement of all highway users is not 
prejudiced.

4.3.2 The development will provide for five individual accesses and driveways. The 
existing accesses that serve the properties currently in-situ will be blocked off 

Page 68



as part of the landscaping and boundary treatment works. The new accesses 
incorporate gates that are set in to the site to enable waiting vehicles to be 
parked clear of the highway. Parking is accommodated on a bound gravel 
area in front of the dwelling, or within the adjoined triple garage.

4.3.3 Highway’s colleagues have appraised the application and concluded that the 
visibility spays associated with the new accesses are acceptable. Further the 
positions of the gates are also considered to avoid obstruction of the highway. 
The proposed parking arrangements are also compliant with the Council’s 
adopted parking standards. 

4.3.4 The site is bounded to the north by Bridleways 168 &167 Blackburn 
(Woodgate’s Road) and to the west, on the boundary with Linden, by public 
right of way 83. The Council’s PROW officer has offered no objection to the 
application though has indicated that should access during development be 
required from Woodgates Road then priority must be given to other users due 
to the Bridleway status. Furthermore, it is the intention of the PROW officer to 
survey the entire route prior to development and post-development to 
appraise whether any damage has been used. In such an event any damage 
caused to the route will have to be made good by the developers, in 
conjunction with the Public Rights of Way department. Works on the western 
boundary, adjoining footpath 83, will need to be mindful of the requirement to 
apply for a temporary footpath closure order if the route is likely to be 
disturbed. 

4.3.5 The submission is supported by demolition and construction method 
statements that offer broad detail of the access arrangements, parking of 
contractors’ vehicles, delivery routes and servicing of the development site. 
Highway colleagues have indicated that there is not sufficient information on 
all aspects, or regarding wheel wash arrangements. It is therefore considered 
to be necessary to impose the Council’s standard construction methods and 
wheel wash condition, should the proposal be supported. Subject to that 
position the development is considered to satisfactorily meet the requirements 
of CS22 and LPP2 Policy 10

4.4 Design and Layout:

4.4.1 Core Strategy Policy CS16 and Policy 11 of the Local Plan strive for high 
quality design within all new developments. Policy 11 specifically requires 
development to present a good standard of design, demonstrating an 
understanding of the wider context and make a positive contribution to the 
local area. The policy sets out a list of detailed design requirements relating to 
character, townscape, public realm, movement, sustainability, diversity, 
materials, colour and viability. Additional support is also set out within the 
Council’s adopted Residential Design Guide

4.4.2 The NPPF also forms a material consideration and guidance is provided 
within section 12 of the document.  Paragraph 127 sets out the general 
parameters of assessment, whilst paragraph 130 advises that “Permission 
should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and 

Page 69



the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or style 
guides in plans or supplementary planning documents. Conversely, where the 
design of a development accords with clear expectations in plan policies, 
design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object 
to development”

4.4.3 The site is currently occupied by 8 individually designed properties. The 
properties range in age from the Edwardian period to mid to late 20th century. 
The existing units are of differing design and form, with a wide range of 
materials including red facing brick, painted render, upvc cladding, clay roof 
tile and natural slate all being present. The units share a loose build line, 
which is commonly set back from Billinge End Road; as are the adjacent 
properties to the west of the site. The majority of the properties sit within large 
garden areas within mature landscaping.  The units are enclosed by a variety 
of boundary treatments, with coursed and random stone walling being 
prevalent. All the houses have their principle entrances on the southern side, 
though many are designed to take advantage of the open views to the north.   
Although the properties are generally of a high quality, they are not identified 
individually or collectively as being of special architectural or historic merit and 
thus have no special designation.

4.4.4 The proposal seeks to remove the 8 existing houses and replace with 5no. 
detached dwellings, with associated access, boundary treatment and 
landscaping. The replacement dwellings will remain orientated with their 
principle elevation to the south, facing Billinge End Road. The natural 
contours of the site have been utilised to insert a lower ground floor to the rear 
of the properties. This ensures the scale of the buildings to the South, facing 
the highway are maintained as 2 storey, while advantage is taken of the 
longer views to the North from all 3 storeys with terraces to the main living 
spaces. The buildings have an irregular footprint, but the basic dimensions 
have a depth of 18m and a width of 29.75m, rising to 43.55m when including 
the adjoined single storey garage block. The principle elevation has a floor to 
ridge height of 9.2m, however due to the site’s topography the rear elevation 
has three storeys and would be 12.3m in height. The proposed dwellings are 
all of the same design, though some are mirrored.

4.4.5 The public objections are dominated by concerns with the design of the 
houses. Common concerns relate to their overall size and massing, as well as 
questioning how the loss of the existing attractive properties can be justified. 
The overall impact on the character of the locality is questioned, as is why the 
properties cannot be individually designed rather than having a repetitive 
form. Members can note the objections further within section 9 of this report.

4.4.6 An important trait of the Council’s design policies is the need to enhance and 
reinforce the character of the locality. Various elements are used to form this 
judgement, including; layout, orientation, building shapes, plot sizes, heights, 
materials and frontage treatment. When appraising the current position there 
are some elements that are evident such as; the generous proportions of the 
plots; the common build line set back from the carriageway; the orientation of 
units to front Bilinge End Road, yet maximise views to the north, the 
prevalence of hipped roof design – often with steep pitches. Other elements 

Page 70



demonstrate variety, including, but not limited to; facing materials, size and 
form of the houses, the proportion of hard landscaping and boundary 
treatment.

4.4.7 The proposal seeks to impose a similar architectural form to all the new 
properties, albeit with some mirrored plots to break up the rhythm of the row 
and due to the need to retain trees. There are several elements of the design 
that meet the current characteristics of the area; the orientation of the houses, 
the generous plots, the use of hipped roofing with steep pitches, the common 
but not regimented build line. Conversely some elements would not conform, 
again including but not limited to; the use of a repeated design, the overall 
scale and massing, the introduction of a pediment design at roof level. 

4.4.8 The proposed design and appearance is not considered to be harmful in itself, 
in many regards they form an attractive and well-designed executive home, 
with high quality features including sliding timber sash windows and stone 
detailing.  Instead the overall size and massing is the most compelling 
argument against the chosen design. The buildings will undoubtedly be 
greater in height than those to be removed, having a ridge height on the 
principle elevation of 12.3m, compared to others in the existing group 
estimated at between 8 and 9m. The objections also raise concern with the 
close setting of the buildings, which it is argued would form a continuous block 
of development harmful to character of the locality.

4.4.9 It is submitted here, though, that given the generous proportions of the plots 
and the lack of a coherent roof-scape forming an abiding feature of the locality 
the raising of ridge levels can be justified. Further, the arguments in relation to 
the overall massing must be set against the current position. Presently the 
gaps between properties range from just 5m between Thorpe and Highwood 
to 30m between Thorpe and The Braids. The common gap between the new 
buildings is 10m, though in all but one of the plots the main house is massed 
against the adjoined garage block, which is single storey (albeit with plant 
within the roof void). The effect is to provide in all but one of the plots a 
distance of 25m between the two storey sections of the buildings when 
viewing the design from Billinge End Road. Indeed between plots 3 and 4 the 
distance between the two storey sections is 40m. Allied to the retained tree 
coverage (see section 4.5) that offers some screening from the carriageway it 
is considered that the overall size and massing is not sufficient to warrant 
refusal when considering the requirements of the Policies and guidance at the 
local and national level.

4.4.10 Members are advised, therefore, that on balance the proposal is consistent 
with the requirements of Policies CS16 and 11 of the LPP2, as well as the 
supplementary guidance and hat contained within the NPPF. That position is 
subject to the use of planning conditions relating to the agreement of facing 
materials and the materials and appearance of the new boundary treatment. 
Furthermore, given the scope for changes normally permitted under the 
allowances of the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO), that could 
substantially alter the overall design and appearance, as well as affecting 
neighbouring amenity, it is also considered necessary to restrict permitted 
development allowances within classes A to E of the GPDO.

Page 71



4.5 Arboricultural Impact:

4.5.1 Policy 9 of the LPP2, at sections 11 to 14, provides guidance in relation to the 
development and the impact on trees. The policy offers a general requirement 
that development will be expected to incorporate existing trees into the design 
and layout of the scheme and should avoid the future conflict between 
buildings and trees. Where development would result in the loss of protected 
trees then planning permission will only be granted where (i) the removal of 
one or more trees would be in the interests of good arboricultural practice; or 
(ii) the desirability of the proposed development outweighs the amenity and/or 
nature conservation value of the trees. The removal of trees will require a 
condition that an equivalent number or more trees are planted on or near the 
site, unless otherwise justified.

4.5.2 The application site has extensive tree coverage. Most significantly this 
includes 11 trees with TPO status and a further TPO group order that is 
principally contained within the Braids grounds.

4.5.3 The scheme is supported by a full tree survey and arboricultural method 
statement, the latter having been amended on several occasions due to the 
receipt of amended proposals. The amended proposals have been, in part, to 
limit the impact on the loss of trees and retain the most important specimens 
fronting Billinge End Road. Nonetheless the scheme will result in the removal 
of 51 trees, 13 due to their current condition and 39 as a result of the 
proposed development. Of the trees being lost 3 have TPO status; one is lost 
due to the development (a Sycamore to the rear of the site on the boundary 
between the new plots 3 and 4) and two are justified for removal due to their 
poor condition (a sycamore with crown decline and a weeping ash with major 
stem decay). In mitigation the application provides for 64 extra heavy standard 
trees, along with hedge and shrub planting.

4.5.4 A significant proportion of the public objections cite tree loss as an issue. 
Members should note section 9 of this report for full details.

4.5.5 The Council’s Arboricultural Manager has appraised the amended proposals 
and advises; 

“The driveways have been moved in accordance with our recommendations 
which have secured the retention of all appropriate trees fronting onto Billinge 
End Road. This is a significant benefit and retains the character of the 
road/area. My second major concern was two groups of trees within plots 4 
and 5 that front onto Woodgates Road. All of these trees were originally 
highlighted for removal. Five of these trees have now been retained which will 
benefit the Woodgates Road aspect and the wider aspect viewed from the 
north and west. 

There are a significant number of trees to be removed. However, the majority 
could be removed lawfully due to no protection, whilst those with TPO status 
have significant flaws/conflicts that would justify removal. The application is 
also proposing a significant number of replacement trees which will mature 
and contribute significantly to the area. On balance the proposals will 

Page 72



eventually have a positive effect on the character of the area and therefore I 
have no objections to the proposals”.

4.5.6 Members are therefore advised that the proposed tree loss can be justified on 
this occasion. The overwhelming proportion of trees identified for removal are 
set within the site, offering limited amenity value to the wider locality. Further 
they are insignificant specimens and typical of most gardens with a high 
proportion of conifer and ornamental species. The proposed loss of protected 
trees T21 and T22 (as identified within the submitted tree survey report and 
planning drawings) is justified due to poor condition; a position that could be 
substantiated independent of any redevelopment proposal. This provides 
justification under the provisions of Policy 9, part 13 (i) as being good 
arboricultural practice. The loss of T9 is as a consequence of the proposals, 
though in this instance the substantial mitigation offered through replacement 
planting has been identified as meeting the test within Policy 9, part 13 (ii) in 
that the scheme will offer a greater contribution to the amenity value of the 
locality in time than the individual specimen currently offers.  

4.5.7 Accordingly, the proposals are, on balance, considered to meet the 
requirements of Policy 9,  subject to the development being undertaken in 
accordance with the tree protection methods and working practices set out in 
the Arboricultural method Statement received 7th August 2018, and the 
replacement planting identified on the landscape and planting drawings 
received 3rd August 2018 - all planting to be undertaken in the first available 
planting season following the completion of each affected plot.

4.6 Residential Amenity:

4.6.1 Policy 8 of the LPP2 relates to the impact of development upon people. 
Importantly, at section (ii) of the policy there is a requirement for all new 
development to secure satisfactory levels of amenity for surrounding uses and 
future occupiers of the development itself. Reference is made to matters 
including; noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, privacy/overlooking and the 
relationship between buildings.

4.6.2 The Residential Design Guide SPD indicates an appropriate separation of 21 
metres between facing windows of habitable rooms of two storey dwellings, 
unless an alternative approach is justified to the Council’s satisfaction.  Where 
windows of habitable rooms face a blank wall or a wall with only non-habitable 
rooms a separation of no less than 13.5 metres shall be maintained, again 
unless an alternative approach is justified to the Council’s satisfaction. For 
each additional storey above 2 storeys, or where land levels create an 
equivalent difference in the heights, an additional set back of 3 metres shall 
be required.

4.6.3 The proposed 5 houses have satisfactory relationships with one another when 
regarding separation requirements. An assessment of the relationship to the 
closest residential properties, Lindene, Woodgates and Woodgates Farm has 
also demonstrated compliance. Notably there are substantial level differences 
to the latter two, which are situated to the north of the application site. They 
are, however, in excess of 60m from the windows within the proposed 

Page 73



dwellings and that distance comfortably complies with the separation 
requirements. 

4.6.4 The applicant’s submission includes a construction methods statement that 
indicates the proposed hours of works as being 7am to 7pm Monday to Friday 
and 7am to 2pm on Saturdays. Those hours are significantly more permissive 
than the Council’s standard hours of use condition that is applied in locations 
where there is potential for conflict with the amenity of neighbouring residents. 
It is therefore submitted here that in order to comply with Policy 8 the hours of 
both the demolition and construction work should be restricted to 8am to 6pm 
Monday to Friday and 9am to 1pm on Saturday, with no site operations on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays.

4.6.5 In order to safeguard residential amenity the Council’s Head of Public 
Protection has also requested two further conditions requiring that prior to 
work commencing  a scheme for dust suppression and noise and vibration 
monitoring be agreed. Finally a condition relating to ‘unexpected land 
contamination’ should also be applied in order to safeguard future residents of 
the site. Subject to those controls and the suggested hours restriction the 
development would be compliant with Policy 8 of the LPP2

4.7 Drainage:

4.7.1 Policy 9 sets out that development will be required to demonstrate that it will 
not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding and impact on environmental assets 
or interests.

4.7.2 The application site is located in a Flood Zone 1, which identifies it as being at 
low risk from flooding (less than a 1 in 1000 annual probability). The site is 
however in excess of one Hectare and in compliance with the NPPG and 
Environment Agency’s requirements the application has been accompanied 
with a flood risk assessment (FRA). 

4.7.3 The FRA indicates that he proposed development does not propose a 
material change of use of land but merely seeks to replace 8 no. existing 
dwellings with 5 no. new properties. The proposals therefore do not seek to 
introduce a new vulnerable use on the site. Further, there are no 
watercourses within 20m of the site, which itself is identified as being at low 
risk when considering the Environment Agency’s own mapping for flood risk 
from surface water.

4.7.4 The FRA concludes that the risk of flooding on the site is low and can 
therefore be considered to meet the relevant test within Policy 9. The 
submission has been considered by the Lead Local Flood Authority and 
United Utilities who have offered no objections subject to conditions relating 
to; foul and surface water being drained on separate systems; surface water 
scheme to be submitted and agreed; and a scheme for the management and 
maintenance of the surface water system to be agreed prior to first occupation 
of the site.

Page 74



4.8 Ecology:

4.8.1 Core Strategy Policy CS15 seeks to provide protection and enhancement of 
ecological assets. Policy 9 of the LPP2 also provides protection for ecological 
assets, indicating that development likely to damage or destroy habitats or 
harm species of international or national importance will not be permitted. 
Biodiversity is also a material consideration within the NPPF

4.8.2 The application was submitted with a daytime bat survey and ecological 
scoping survey. The survey concluded that two properties at the western end 
of the site, Sheraton and Silverdale, provided evidence of bat activity and had 
high bat roost suitability. The remaining properties were well sealed and 
devoid of evidence of bat activity. Additionally the survey noted the presence 
of several man-made ponds that offered less than optimum breeding habitats 
for great crested newts, though could support more common species, such as 
the smooth newt. No evidence of other protected species, such as badgers, 
was noted

4.8.3 At the request of Capita Ecology further bat emergence surveys were 
commissioned in relation to Sheraton and Silverdale. The survey work 
identified the presence of three common Pipistrelle bats emerging from 
Silverdale and one from Sheraton, concluding that the properties are day 
roosts for a small number of Common Pipistrelle bats, consistent with the 
findings of the initial survey work. 

4.8.4 It is agreed by both Capita Ecology and the applicant’s own consultant that a 
low impact Class Licence for bats will be need to be secured from Natural 
England in order to demolish Sheraton and Silverdale, though demolition 
could occur to the remaining 6 units immediately. It is also suggested that 
obtaining the licence would require enhancement and mitigation to be 
demonstrated and that this could be satisfactorily addressed by a planning 
condition. In addition there are also suggested conditions agreed by both 
parties in relation to; the draining of the man-made ponds within the site to 
occur under trained ecological supervision and avoidance measures to be 
employed; tree removal should not occur during bird nesting season, 
commonly March to September, unless the absence of nests has been 
verified by a suitably qualified ecologist; should demolition of properties occur 
more than 2 years from the date of this permission the site shall be re-
surveyed for the presence of bats.   Subject to the suggested conditions the 
proposal is considered to meet the relevant requirements set out within Policy 
9 of the LPP2 and CS15

4.9 Affordable Housing:

4.9.1 Core Strategy Policy CS8 advises that all new residential development will be 
required to contribute towards the Borough’s identified need for affordable 
housing; this being achieved through on-site provision, or through a financial 
contribution towards off-site delivery. 

4.9.2 The development falls below the 10 unit threshold set by the Government in 
relation to tariff based policies requiring financial contributions, though, 

Page 75



importantly, there is a caveat based upon large units that exceed 1000m2 of 
floor space, such as those proposed. Accordingly the development must 
adhere to the requirements of Policy CS8 and when applying the tariff set out 
in the Council’s affordable housing guidance note for developers there is a 
requirement of £2,500 per unit. This equates to a total payment of £12,500 to 
be secured via a section 106 planning agreement.

5.0 RECOMMENDATION

4.1 Approve subject to:

(i) That delegated authority is given to the Head of Service for Planning 
to approve planning permission subject to an agreement under 
section 106 of the Town and Country planning Act 1990, relating to 
the payment of financial contributions relating to the following 
matters;

 
 £12,500 as a contribution to the provision of Affordable Housing in the 

Borough, payable on the commencement of development

Should the s106 agreement not be completed within 6 months of the date of 
this resolution, the Head of Service for Planning will have delegated powers to 
refuse the application

(ii) Conditions relating to the following matters;

 Commence development within 3 years
 Materials to be submitted and agreed
 Construction management plan to be agreed
 Permitted development rights to be removed (Part 1, Classes A to E)
 Scheme for materials and appearance of boundary treatment to be 

submitted and agreed
 Foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems
 Surface water scheme to be submitted and agreed
 Scheme for management and maintenance of surface water drainage 

system to be submitted and agreed prior to first occupation
 Unexpected land contamination
 Limitation of demolition and construction site works to: 08:00 to 18:00 

Mondays to Fridays, 09:00 to 13:00 Saturdays, Not at all on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays.

 Scheme for suppression of dust during demolition and construction to be 
submitted and agreed

 Scheme for the monitoring of noise and vibration during demolition and 
construction to be agreed

 Provision of an electronic vehicle charging point for all new dwellings to be 
installed prior to first occupation

 Maximum emission of all gas fired heating boilers not to exceed 40mg 
NOx/kWh

 No vegetation during bird nesting season (Mar to Aug) unless absence of 
bird nests established by suitable qualified ecologist

Page 76



 No demolition shall occur to ‘Sheraton’ or ‘Silverdale’ properties until such 
time that a licence has been obtained from Natural England

 Scheme detailing the number, location and form of bat boxes shall be 
submitted and agreed prior to demolition.

 If site clearance is delayed more than 2 years from the date of this 
permission, the buildings present on site shall be re-surveyed for the 
presence of bats and, as necessary, an updated mitigation scheme agreed

 Pond drainage to be undertaken under supervision of trained ecologist, 
and avoidance measures during site clearance employed.

 Tree protection measures as detailed in arboricultural method statement 
received 7th August 2018

 Landscaping in accordance with details received 3rd August 2018,  to be 
undertaken in first available planting season following the completion of 
the affected plot 

6.0 PLANNING HISTORY

6.1 Woodhenge:

10/17/0080 – TPO works: Crown lift up to 1/3 total tree height. (Approved 
February 2017)

6.2 The Braids:

10/15/0436 - Erection of a detached dwelling with garage. (Refused August 
2015). Appeal dismissed July 2016 (Ref. APP/M2372/W/16/3144143).

10/11/0567 - Erection of a detached dwelling with garage. (Refused 
December 2011). Appeal allowed September 2012 (Ref. 
APP/M2372/A/12/2171380).

10/08/0435 - Erection of Private Dwelling. (Approved 16th June 2008)

6.3 Thorpe:

10/12/0271 - Single storey extension to rear. (Approved April 2012). 

10/03/1254 - 2 storey extension and conservatory. (Approved March 2004)

6.4 Sheraton:

10/05/0342 – Rear Conservatory and extension to existing patio with storage 
space below. (Approved  May 2005).

Page 77



7.0 CONSULTATIONS:

7.1 Public Consultation:

Public consultation has taken place, with 26 neighbouring premises being 
individually consulted by letter and site notices being displayed. There have 
been three further rounds of consultation following the receipt of amended 
proposals. In response a total of 32 letters of objection have been received, 
including multiple objections from the same individuals. A summary of the 
written objections are set out within section 9.0 of this report 

7.2 Highways:

The proposals provide for adequate parking in line with the Council’s adopted 
parking standards. The visibility splays for the 5 access drives are acceptable. 
Gates are proposed, but are sufficiently set back to avoid obstruction and 
enable vehicles to wait clear of the highway before entering the site. No 
objection subject to a condition requiring construction methods statement, 
including details of wheel wash facility, to be agreed.

7.3 PROW

Bridleways 168 &167 Blackburn (Woodgate’s Road)

We have concerns that construction vehicles will be using Woodgate’s Road 
as access to the site for demolishing the existing houses followed by the 
construction of the New developments. Although the majority of Woodgate’s 
road is of a tarmac surface, there are some grassy sections and a short 
section from Meins Road which is a pitched stone surface and not suitable for 
heavy construction vehicles. As the entire route is a Public Bridleway, any 
vehicles using the route will have to give priority to other users on the road at 
all times. The entire route will be surveyed prior to works commencing and 
again when all works are complete, any damage caused to the route will have 
to be made good by the developers and in conjunction with the Public Rights 
of Way department.

Footpath 83 Blackburn

There is a Public Footpath running between Lindene and Sheraton. The 
property named Sheraton is to be demolished as part of the application, the 
developers need to be mindful of any excavation works that may undermine 
the footpath. If any works are to disturb the surface then a temporary closure 
order needs to be applied for.

7.4 Head of Public Protection:

No objection subject to conditions relating to (i) Land contamination (ii) 
Restriction of development hours to 8:00 – 18:00 Monday to Friday, 09: - 
13:00 Saturday, no works Sunday and Bank Holidays (iii) Scheme for dust 
suppression during demolition and construction to be agreed (iv) Programme 

Page 78



for the monitoring of noise and vibration generated during demolition and 
construction to be agreed (v) Each dwelling to have provision for electric 
vehicle charging (vi) Gas boiler emission restricted to 40mg NOx/kWh (vii) 
Floodlighting scheme to be agreed, if necessary. 

7.5 Environmental Services:

No objections

7.6 Arboricultural Manager

Following discussions with the developers with regards to the construction of 
five new houses on Billinge End Road I can confirm my final position as 
significantly more positive than those offered following the original submission. 

The driveways have been moved in accordance with our recommendations 
which have secured the retention of all appropriate trees fronting onto Billinge 
End Road. This is a significant benefit and retains the character of the 
road/area. My second major concern was the two groups of trees within plots 
4 and 5 that front onto Woodgates Road. All of these trees were highlighted 
for removal. Five of these trees have now been retained which will benefit the 
Woodgates Road aspect and the wider aspect viewed from the west. 

There remain a significant number of trees to be removed. However, the 
majority could be removed lawfully due to no protection and also many of the 
trees have significant flaws/conflicts that would justify and enable removal of 
the limited number of protected trees being removed. 

The application is also proposing a significant number of replacement trees 
which will mature and contribute significantly to the area. Thus the proposals 
will eventually have a positive effect on the character of the area and therefore 
I have no objections to the proposals, subject to conditions requiring 
appropriate tree protection measures and replacement planting.

7.7 Capita Ecology

No objection, though consideration to be given to; Demolition of ‘Sheraton’ 
and ‘Silverdale’ properties should not occur until an appropriate licence has 
been obtained from Natural England and submitted to the Council. Further 
conditions relating to the following matters (i) If site clearance is delayed more 
than 2 years from the date of this permission, the buildings present on site 
shall be re-surveyed for the presence of bats and, as necessary, an updated 
mitigation scheme agreed (ii) Scheme detailing the number, location and 
appearance of bat boxes to be agreed. (iii) No removal of vegetation through 
the bird nesting season (March to August) unless the absence of nests has 
been verified (iv) pond removal to be undertaken under supervision of suitably 
qualified ecologist and avoidance measures to be employed to safeguard 
newts and amphibians

Page 79



7.8 Lead Local Flood Authority:

No objection subject to a condition requiring drainage scheme to be agreed

7.9 United Utilities:

No objections subject to conditions relating to; (i) Foul and surface water to be 
drained on separate systems (ii) Surface water drainage scheme to be agreed 
(iii) Scheme for maintenance and management of surface water drainage 
system to be agreed

8.0 CONTACT OFFICER:  Martin Kenny, Principal Planner, Development 
Management

9.0 DATE PREPARED: 10th September 2018

Page 80



9.0 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS:

Objection Richard Prest, Ramscroft House, Meins Road, Blackburn. Rec – 04/05/2018

Objection (2) Richard Prest, Ramsgreave House, Meins Road, Blackburn. Rec – 29/05/2018

Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Objection Richard Crest, Ramscroft House, Meins Road, Blackburn. Rec- 03/08/2018

Objection Jim Waltom, 4 Pall Mall, Blackburn. Rec – 08/05/2018

Page 84



Objection Angela Hoyland, Billinge End Road, Blackburn. Rec – 16/05/2018

Objection Mr Martin White, Westmead, Meins Road, Blackburn. 

Page 85



Objection W I Woolley, Woodgates, Woodgates Road, Blackburn. Rec – 17/05/2018

Page 86



Objection (2) W I Woolley, Woodgates, Woodgates Road, Blackburn. Rec – 17/05/2018

Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Objection W I Woolley, Woodgates, Woodgates Road, Blackburn. Rec – 16/07/2018

Page 90



Objection W I Woolley, Woodgates, Woodgates Road, Blackburn. Rec – 10/08/2018

Page 91



Objection W I Woolley, Woodgates, Woodgates Road, Blackburn. Rec – 05/09/2018

Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Objection Aidan & Deborah Broughton, 9 Pall Mall, Blackburn. Rec 17/05/2018

Page 95



Objection Mr & Mrs P J Clancy, Pittarrow, Meins Road, Blackburn. Rec – 17/05/2018

Objection Gwyn Williams, Linden, Woodgates Road, Blackburn. Rec 01/05/2018

Page 96



Objection (2) Gwyn Williams, Linden, Woodgates Road, Blackburn. Rec – 29/05/2018

Objection (3) Gwyn Williams, Linden, Woodgates, Blackburn. Rec – 03/08/2018

Page 97



Objection Mark Tuchmann, Tanamera, Billinge End Road, Blackburn. Rec – 18/05/2018

Objection (2) Mark Tuchmann, Tanamera, Billinge End Road, Blackburn. Rec – 01/08/2018

Page 98



Objection Mrs M Bolton, 15 Chapel Lane, Hoghton, Preston. Rec – 18/05/2018

Objection Allen & Lindsay Evans, Southworth, Billinge End Road, Blackburn. Rec – 
20/05/2018

Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Objection Mrs E Beaumont, 7 Billinge End Road, Blackburn. Rec – 22/05/2018

Page 103



Objection Dr John Merrill, Kenolbri, Meins Road, Blackburn. Rec – 23/05/2018

Page 104



Objection Ian Riley & Julie Hall Rec – 24/05/2018

Objection John Aspin, 5 Billingeside, Blackburn. Rec – 28/05/2018

Page 105



Objection (2) John Aspin, 5 Billingeside, Blackburn. Rec – 03/08/2018

Objection Nancy Olander, Billinge End Road, Blackburn. Rec – 26/05/2018

Page 106



Objection J Alcorn, 2 Pall Mall, Blackburn. Rec – 29/05/2018

Page 107



Objection Rebecca Walsh Rec -  31/05/2018

Objection Paul Fletcher, Woodgates Farm, Meins Road, Blackburn. Rec – 31/07/2018

Objection Ian Whalley, 1 Billinge Side, Blackburn. Rec – 29/05/2018

Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Objection (2) Ian Whalley, 1 Billinge Side, Blackburn. Rec – 07/08/2018

Page 111



Page 112



Objection (3) Ian Whalley, 1 Billinge Side, Blackburn. Rec – 24/08/2018

Page 113



Page 114



Objection Nicola Beswick, 8 Pall Mall, Blackburn. Rec – 26/05/2018

Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR                          Plan No: 10/18/0502

Proposed development: Full Planning Applicationfor Demolition of existing dwelling and 
erection of replacement dwelling

Site address: 11 Vale Street, Edgworth, Bolton, BL7 0EB

Applicant: Mr Mark Gregory

Ward: West Pennine

Cllr Colin Rigby
Cllr Jean Rigby
Cllr Julie Slater

 

24

34

Weir

Pa
th

9

3

40

Saddle1

5

Bridge

15

23

31

11

V
A

LE
 S

TR
EE

T

10

Vale Brook View

24

7

House
Edge

153.3m

12

Pa
th

Weir

The
Woodlands

27
8

7
2

Turton Bottoms

Path (um)

38

(FB)

Pack
142.3m

Path (um)

Page 133

Agenda Item 4.3



1.0 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1 APPROVE – Subject to the recommended conditions (see paragraph 5.0)

2.0 KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1 This application has been referred to the Committee for consideration 
following the receipt of objections from the North Turton Parish Council and 
members of the public

2.2 The proposal will deliver a high quality bespoke housing development which 
will widen the choice of family housing in the Borough. It supports the 
Borough’s planning strategy for housing growth as set out in the Core 
Strategy. The proposal is also satisfactory from a technical point of view, with 
all issues having been addressed through the application, or capable of 
being controlled or mitigated through planning conditions.

3.0 RATIONALE

3.1 Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site is an existing residential plot positioned on the eastern 
side of Vale Street, within the Edgworth village envelope. The site is currently 
occupied by a large two storey dwelling constructed with buff facing brick and 
concrete tiled roof. The property has been previously extended and has an 
extant approval to be further extended to the rear. The plot is generously 
proportioned and has a large side and rear garden, which includes a folly and 
bank of protected trees on the southern boundary. 

3.1.2 The site is accessed via a narrow cobbled section of Vale Street. The plot is 
bounded to the south by Bradshaw Brook and is designated as being flood 
risk 2 by the Environment Agency. The surrounding area is characterised by 
large detached dwellings of differing architectural form and styles; including 
vernacular stone properties to the north and west and modern detached 
homes to the south, principally constructed with render walling. The area has 
extensive tree coverage throughout. 

3.2 Proposed Development

3.2.1 Planning approval is sought for the demolition of the existing property and 
structures within the garden area and construction of a detached dwelling. 
The new building will closely align to the footprint of the existing property and 
the extant approvals for its extension, with an ‘L’ shaped configuration massed 
towards the eastern and northern boundaries. The ground floor level of the 
new building has been raised 600mm as part of flood defence measures.

3.2.2 The replacement property has a two storey gable fronted section massed 
towards the north east corner of the site, which is to be principally constructed 
in natural stone and slate, with some timber cladding detail. Single storey 
sections of the building project from this to the south and east. The southern 

Page 134



section is again constructed with stone and slate and provides the main living 
space; it incorporates a glazed gable detail overlooking the side garden and 
Bradshaw Brook beyond, as well as large expanses of glazing within the rear 
elevation. The eastern outrigger will accommodate a swimming pool and is 
constructed with zinc cladding to the wall and roof, again with glazing 
overlooking the rear garden area.

3.3 Development Plan

3.3.1 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan 
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In 
determining the current proposal, the following are considered to be the most 
relevant policies:

3.3.2 Core Strategy

 CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
 CS5 - Locations for New Housing
 CS6 – Housing Targets
 CS7 – Types of Housing
 CS16 – Form and Design of New Development

3.3.3 Local Plan Part 2

 Policy 1 – The Urban Boundary 
 Policy 6 – Village Boundaries
 Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
 Policy 8 – Development and People
 Policy 9 – Development and the Environment 
 Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport
 Policy 11 – Design
 Policy 18 – Housing Mix

3.4 Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 

This document provides targeted advice to ensure high quality new homes. It 
aims to ensure that new development reflects the individual and collective 
character of areas of the Borough and promotes high standards of design. 
The document also seeks to ensure a good relationship between existing and 
proposed development in terms of protecting and enhancing amenity. 

3.4.2 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) 

The National Planning Policy Framework (Framework) is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. The Framework sets out a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, which is the “golden thread” running 
through both plan-making and decision-taking. The Framework explains that 

Page 135



for decision taking, this means approving development proposals that accord 
with the development plan without delay. Section 5 of the Framework relates 
to delivering a wide choice of high quality homes, and Section 8 relates to 
promoting healthy communities.

4.0 ASSESSMENT

4.1 In assessing this application there are a number of important material 
considerations that need to be taken into account as follows:

 Principle;
 Highways and access;
 Design;
 Amenity impact;
 Flood Risk;
 Ecological and Arboricultural impact

4.2 Principle:

4.2.1 Policy 6 of the Local Plan states that development in the rural areas shall be 
located within village boundaries unless it is specifically supported by another 
policy of the Local Plan. The application site is within the Edgworth village 
boundary and the proposal is therefore consistent with Policy 6.

4.2.2 Policy 7 on Sustainable and Viable Development echoes the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development set out in the NPPF. Thus, applications 
that accord with policies in the Local Plan will be approved without delay 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Subject to the ecological, 
arboricultural and flood risk assessments set out further in this report, the 
development is considered to be consistent with Policy 7

4.3 Highways and Access:

4.3.1 Core Strategy Policy 22: Accessibility Strategy and Local Plan Policy 10: 
Accessibility and Transport, aim to ensure that new developments provide 
appropriate provision for access, car parking and servicing so as to ensure 
the safe, efficient and convenient movement of all highway users is not 
prejudiced.

4.3.2 The proposal provides for a driveway access off Vale Street, leading to an 
integral garage accommodating 2 vehicles. The new driveway is in the 
general position of that serving the existing property. The Council’s Highway 
team have indicated that the proposed parking provision is in accordance with 
the Council’s adopted parking standards. Further, the proposed access and 
driveway arrangement is also considered to be satisfactory.

4.3.3 The public objections cite concerns regarding construction traffic affecting 
movement along Vale Street. This point is noted and accepted, though can be 
satisfactorily addressed by the use of the Council’s standard condition 
requiring construction methods and wheel wash details to be agreed.

Page 136



4.4     Design:

4.4.1 Policy 11 of the Local Plan requires development to present a good standard 
of design, demonstrating an understanding of the wider context and make a 
positive contribution to the local area. The policy sets out a list of detailed 
design requirements relating to character, townscape, public realm, 
movement, sustainability, diversity, materials, colour and viability.  This 
underpins the main principles of sustainable development contained in the 
NPPF.

4.4.2 The existing property is of non-vernacular appearance, incorporating the use 
of a mix of buff facing brick and white render. The property has been 
previously extended by way of a upvc conservatory to the rear; whilst it also 
has an extant permission for a single storey rear extension to accommodate a 
swimming pool. The property also has a ‘folly’ within the side rear garden that 
is exposed to views across Bradshaw Brook, which forms the southern 
boundary of the site. The surrounding area is generally characterised by large 
detached dwellings of differing architectural form and styles; including 
vernacular stone properties to the north and west and modern detached 
homes to the south, principally constructed with render walling. The area has 
extensive tree coverage throughout.

4.4.3 Planning approval is sought for the demolition of the existing property and 
structures within the garden area and construction of a detached dwelling. 
The new building will closely align to the footprint of the existing property and 
the extant approvals for its extension, with an ‘L’ shaped configuration massed 
towards the eastern and northern boundaries. The ground floor level of the 
new building has been raised 600mm as part of flood defence measures. The 
replacement property has a two storey gable fronted section massed towards 
the north east corner of the site, which is to be principally constructed in 
natural stone and slate, with some timber cladding detail. Single storey 
sections of the building project from this to the south and east. The southern 
section is again constructed with stone and slate and provides the main living 
space; it incorporates a glazed gable detail overlooking the side garden and 
Bradshaw Brook beyond, as well as large expanses of glazing within the rear 
elevation. The eastern outrigger will accommodate a swimming pool and is 
constructed with zinc cladding to the wall and roof, again with glazing 
overlooking the rear garden area. The proposal is identified within the 
submission as having excellent sustainability credentials, equivalent to Code 5

4.4.4 The proposal is considered to form a successful contemporary addition to the 
existing streetscape. The building is massed in a similar position to the 
existing property and others along the eastern side of Vale Street. The use of 
vernacular materials including stone walling and slate roofing help further 
assimilate the development to those other properties in the area, whilst the 
use of large expanses of glazing to selected elevations and areas of timber 
cladding and sections of zinc roofing to the rear add architectural interest. 

Page 137



4.4.5 The Council has received an objection from the North Turton Parish Council 
on the grounds that the proposal would amount to an overdevelopment of the 
site. The objection is difficult to substantiate on the basis that the replacement 
dwelling would only amount to a minor increase (circa 15%) in the footprint of 
the existing property when allowing for the previous additions and those 
allowed by extant approval 10/16/0224. Furthermore, the development will 
also lead to the removal of the ‘folly’ within the side rear garden. 
Notwithstanding all of that the plot is identified as being generously 
proportioned and capable of accommodating the development without 
detriment.

4.5 Residential Amenity

4.5.1 Policy 8 of the LPP2 relates to the impact of development upon people. 
Importantly, at section (ii) of the policy there is a requirement for all new 
development to secure satisfactory levels of amenity for surrounding uses and 
future occupiers of the development itself. Reference is made to matters 
including; noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, privacy/overlooking and the 
relationship between buildings.

4.5.2 The Residential Design Guide SPD indicates an appropriate separation of 21 
metres between facing windows of habitable rooms of two storey dwellings, 
unless an alternative approach is justified to the Council’s satisfaction.  Where 
windows of habitable rooms face a blank wall or a wall with only non-habitable 
rooms a separation of no less than 13.5 metres shall be maintained, again 
unless an alternative approach is justified to the Council’s satisfaction. The 
development is consistent with these requirements.

4.5.3 The Council’s Head of Public Protection has no objection to the proposal, 
subject to an unexpected land contamination condition. It is also considered 
necessary to require details of the method of demolition, including dust 
suppression, to be agreed. In line with the Council’s standard procedures in 
areas where residential amenity can be compromised it is also necessary to 
control the hours of work to 8am to 6pm Monday – Friday, 9am to 1pm 
Saturday, with no work on Sunday and Bank Holidays. Subject to those 
controls the development would be consistent with Policy 8 of the Local Plan 
Part 2.

4.6 Flood Risk:

4.6.1 Policy 9 sets out that development will be required to demonstrate that it will 
not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding and impact on environmental assets 
or interests.

4.6.2 The site is identified as being split between Flood Zones 2 and 3, with the 
northern section, where the existing building and replacement dwelling are 
positioned, being within Zone 2. The side garden area on the southern 
boundary adjoins Bradshaw Brook and is within Zone 3

4.6.3 The proposal is supported by a flood risk assessment, which indicates that the 
development is consistent with the sequential and exceptions tests set out in 

Page 138



the NPPG. The proposed development is also designed to comply with the 
NPPF requirement of 300mm above the general ground level of the site, or 
600mm above the estimated river level, whichever is the higher. The resulting 
development has a datum level of 140.60, which exceeds the required 140.31  
datum level when applying the NPPF requirements. The result is the 
development being less susceptible to flooding than the existing property is. 
Furthermore the proposal also provides for five cubic metres of underground 
attenuation of flood water beneath the rear patio. 

4.6.4 The Lead Local Flood Authority has offered no objection to the proposal. The 
environment agency have also reviewed the submission and requested that a 
condition be applied that development should not commence until a plan 
showing ground levels being lowered for flood compensation (to provide the 
attenuation) has been submitted and agreed. Subject to that position, the 
application is considered to meet the relevant tests within Policy 9.

4.7 Ecology and Arboricultural Assessment:

4.7.1 Policy 9 also requires successful proposals to safeguard ecological assets 
and where appropriate to seek to retain trees within application sites.

4.7.2 The application site has mature trees on its southern boundary that have tree 
protection orders upon them. There is further shrub and tree coverage at the 
rear (east) of the plot. 

4.7.3 The application is supported by tree survey and arboricultural method 
statement. Having reviewed the submission the Council’s arboricultural 
manager is satisfied that the development will not affect the TPO’s on the 
southern boundary, notwithstanding some minor pruning in line with good 
arboricultural practice. Furthermore the removal of the small group of juvenile 
trees and shrubs on the eastern boundary is also considered to be without 
detriment to the wider amenity of the locality. Consideration has also been 
given as to whether the attenuation proposals required as part of the flood 
defence would affect the TPO’s within the site. However confirmation has 
been provided by the Environment Agency that the attenuation must occur 
outside of Flood Zone 3 and as the root protection zones of the TPO’s are 
wholly within zone 3 there is no potential for conflict to arise. Subject to the 
development being undertaken in accordance with the working methods set 
out in the Arboricultural Method Statement, the proposal satisfies the relevant 
sections of policy 9.

4.7.4 The proposal is also supported by a bat roost assessment. The report is 
consistent with the findings of an earlier assessment in 2015 (as part of 
application 10/15/0092) that there is an absence of bat roosts within the roof 
void. Notwithstanding the lack of evidence of bat activity, as part of the 2015 
approval mitigation has already been provided by way of the erection of a bat 
box on the adjacent trees. Accordingly there are no concerns with the 
development adversely affecting ecological assets and the relevant 
requirements of Policy 9 are met

Page 139



5 RECOMMENDATION: Approve subject to conditions which relate to the 
following matters:

 Commence within 3 years
 Approved details and drawings
 Materials to be submitted and agreed
 Demolition method statement, including dust suppression, to be agreed
 Construction Methods
 Hours of demolition /construction limitation (Mon to Fri, 8am to 6pm, Sat, 

9am to 1pm, no work on Sun and Bank Holidays)
 Scheme for boundary treatment to be agreed
 Plan detailing ground levels to be lowered for flood compensation to be 

submitted and agreed
 Development in accordance with tree protection measures detailed within 

submitted Arboricultural Method Statement
 Removal of Permitted Development Rights (Part 1, Classes A to E)
 Unexpected land contamination
 Development to be undertaken with working methods set out in the 

submitted Arboricultural Method Statement

6 PLANNING HISTORY

6.4 The following planning applications are material considerations for the 
assessment of the current proposal;

10/15/0092 - Rear single storey and side extension above garage with 
remodelling works

10/16/0224 - Single storey rear extension to accommodate a swimming pool.

7 CONSULTATIONS

7.1 Environment Agency

Initial objection as the flood risk assessment (FRA) supplied with the 
submission was not in accordance with the requirements of NPPF. Amended 
FRA received 16th July 2018 resulted in objection being removed subject to a 
condition being imposed relating to the submission of a plan detailing ground 
level reduction is agreed.

7.2 Lead Local Flood Authority

No objections.

7.3 Highways

No objections subject to condition relating to construction methods

7.4 Capita Ecology

Page 140



Requirement for bat roost assessment met within the application. No roost 
present within the site and mitigation measures previously imposed upon 
permission 10/16/0224 has already provided for a bat box within the site.

7.5 Arboricultural Manager

No objection subject to development being undertaken in accordance with the 
submitted Arboricultural Method Statement

7.6 Public Protection

No objections subject to condition relating to; demolition method to be agreed, 
control of demolition and construction hours (Mon to Fri, 8am to 6pm, Sat, 
9am to 1pm, no work on Sun and Bank Holidays) and unexpected land 
contamination control

7.7 North Turton Parish Council

Objects on the grounds that the development would be an over-development 
of the site

7.8 Public Consultation

Public consultation has taken place with nine neighbouring properties being 
individually consulted by letter. 4 letters of objection have been received; 
these are set out in section 9.0 of this report

8 CONTACT OFFICER:  Martin Kenny, Principal Planner – Development 
Management

8.1 DATE PREPARED: 7th September 2018

9 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Objection from Dean & Tracy Gee

Dear Mr Kenny

Whilst we understand that due to recent flooding, the resident may wish to adapt his 
property to prevent any future damage, we would like you to note our concerns/objections 
to the above planning application for 11 Vale Street.

The dwelling is on an unadopted, single-lane, cobbled road which has been repaired several 
times (by joint contributions of some of the residents) and is not able to cope with heavy 

Page 141



vehicular traffic and we are extremely concerned that if this planning permission gets 
passed, then it will leave permanent damage to the already fragile road.

The road gets broken up by light traffic and will be worsened by the heavy traffic during 
construction. The disruption to all of the residents within the street will be significant as it is 
a cobbled single track road with no room for passing, also, leaving no access for emergency 
vehicles.

The current driveway at no.11 is a shared driveway, which has only got enough space to 
accommodate 2 cars and not lorries or construction vehicles, therefore the whole street will 
be blocked during many occasions throughout the demolition/construction.

Whilst the planned works are signigicant enough for the resident to leave the property - the 
plans do not show any consideration whatsoever, to the other 
residents/visitors/deliveries/emergency vehicles regarding access to/from the single-lane 
road during demolition or construction.

We therefore object on the basis of the permanent damage that will be caused to the road. 

Vale Street has several properties within close proximity to one another, no. 11 
included. The report states that the current dwelling is not in keeping with the surrounding 
properties - not only are there 2 similar designed properties within extreme close proximity 
but the new planned design is even further apart from this.

We therefore ask you to consider the following extract from the application which needs to 
be seriously addressed as it is completly incorrect:
More significantly however, is the lack of architectural merit of the existing dwelling, it is 
proposed that the appearance of the building is poor and does not contribute in any way to 
the exceptional site context and its wider surrounding’s

The application shows examples of similar designs that have been approved by council. 
However, those dwellings are either a reasonable distance from other properties or 
amongst properties 'with a variety of architectural styles'.  No. 11 Vale Street is extremely 
close to other properties and a design of this external appearance will look completely out 
of place and is not inkeeping with any other properties on the street and therefore, plans of 
this nature would change the appearance and concept of the street.

We trust that you will take our comments into consideration when deciding on this 
planning application.

Kind Regards

Objection from Debbie Connor, 2 Vale Street, Turton, BL7 0EB

Dear Sirs
 

Page 142



I am contacting you with regard to the planning application for 11 Vale Street as I am 
seriously concerned about the volume of traffic this will cause on a single width street.  The 
project will involve a high volume of heavy duty vehicles/machinery during the demolition, 
clearing of the site and then the build itself.
 
On reviewing the application there does not appear to be any information on how the site will 
be operated i.e. Where is the site plan?  Where is the site compound?  Where is the traffic 
management plan?
 
I know from experience that this is a highly constrained site due to its location on a very busy 
single track street with over 50 properties using it frequently.
 
I would not expect to see any site vehicles parked on the road at any time as this would cause 
massive and unacceptable inconvenience to the local community.  Arrangements should be 
made for all vehicles to be parked off the road and on the site itself during the works.
 
Further, I would hope that as a condition of planning that any vehicle bigger than a Ford a 
Transit should not be allowed to make delivery to site during commuter hours i.e. 07.00 to 
10.00 and 16.00 to 19.00 hours.
 
The road is cobbled and is highly likely to be damaged by large vehicles and so there should 
also be a condition of planning to take record photographs before the work commences such 
that it can be reinstated on completion of the project so that it can be returned to its original 
condition.  To protect the historic cobbled street a vehicle weight limit should also be 
imposed.  This should be dictated by your Highway Engineers as a condition of planning. 
 
Finally, all of the above points would be addressed by the use of the ‘Considerate 
Contractors’ Scheme’ on this project.  This should be a condition of planning consent to help 
minimise the impact on the local community.
 
I hope my concerns are taken seriously as if the measures suggested are not incorporated this 
project could have a significant detrimental impact to the local environment and community.
 
Yours faithfully

Objection from Glenys Syddall, North Turton Parish Council

North Turton Parish Council objects to application 10/18/0502 for the demolition of existing 
dwelling at 11 Vale Street, Turton and replacement with a new dwelling, on the grounds that 
it is an over-development of the site.

Objection from K J Coleman, 19 Vale Street, Turton, BL7 0EB

Dear Sir,

I write with regard to the above planning application regarding 11 Vale Street Turton Bolton BL7 
0EB.

Page 143



I live at 19 Vale Street  and am mystified why I wasn’t notified about this as the proposed changes 
will impact on all residents in Vale Street and not just those on either side of the development.

Vale Street is a single track private road, the upper end is cobbled, then there is a bridge over a 
stream, then there is  a paved road in front of properties  numbers  15, 17, 19, 21, 23, 25, 27. 29, 31 
and 33 Vale Street. Beyond this are further properties - around 6 houses in total. None of whom 
have been notified.
The road itself already has some damage  and will only be further damaged by the heavy lorries etc  
that a demolition and rebuild would require. The bridge over the stream is also old and would not 
stand a lot of heavy traffic  without suffering significant damage.

The proposed building is out of character with the other  houses on Vale Street, which  presently has  
the air of a rural hamlet.

The proposed development is larger than the current house  and as it is next to the river I worry 
about the integrity of the riverbank on that side  particularly in the event of heavy rain. 

In December 2015 there was particularly heavy rain and the river started to burst it’s banks. Indeed 
there was some flooding of the lawns of 11 Vale Street  itself.
The police came and advised  evacuation of the properties in Vale Street for fear of flooding  and the 
risk of the bridge giving way. 
Any large construction at the site of 11 Vale Street that potentially diverts the river water ( in the 
event of a flood) towards the houses distal to the bridge would have disastorous consequences.  

The exit of Vale Street onto Wellington Road is very awkward and  in many ways is an accident 
waiting to happen. A lot of additional heavy traffic will make it even more dangerous.
Access  to the houses  beyond number  11 Vale Street will be very difficult during the works  as Vale 
Street is single track and even now  cars attempt to park on it.
For these reasons I would oppose this application.
Yours faithfully

Comment from C Chadwick

In respect of the above Planning Application in relation to No.11 Vale St, Turton BL7 0EB.

I have no objections to the proposals shown in the architects drawings, I am sure it will be a 
very high quality construction.

One issue I do have great concern for is associated with both the demolition and 
construction/fitting out stages through to completion of the project.

This being the high amount of vehicular traffic that will be present during the works (Heavy 
Plant/Machinery during demolition/construction, various contractors private/company vans 
etc) and parking on the already congested, narrow Street.

Page 144

https://maps.google.com/?q=No.11+Vale+St,+Turton+BL7+0EB&entry=gmail&source=g


See attached image

Beyond No.11 and down to the end of Vale St (cul-de-sac)  there are approximately 20 
properties owning in the region of 50 cars.

This traffic should not be delayed/inconvenienced during the works.

A solution to reduce the effect of the project would be to ensure that as conditions of the 
planning permission:

1/ Provide off Vale St parking for all vehicles during drop off/on site activities

2/ Ensure that Vale St is kept in a clean condition throughout the project as a result of site 
vehicles depositing dirt etc.

3/ No parking is permitted on Vale St for any vehicle associated with this project through to 
completion

4/ Any damage to the surface of Vale St caused by project related traffic  is repaired

5/ A nominated Site agent/Foreman is employed to monitor and ensure compliance with the 
above conditions who’s contact details shall be made available to residents on Vale St.

As a solution to 1/ above I would suggest that a section(s) of No.11 perimeter wall to Vale St 
is temporarily removed to create a lay-by facility for large vehicles so as not to block Vale St 
at any time.

I would also suggest that a section of the lawned area to the south of the plot is protected and 
made available for contractors to park their vehicles until project completion

Page 145



Page 146



 1 

 

 

 

REPORT OF: THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
                        ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTOR  OF 
                        GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT 
TO:                  PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE  
 
ON:                           20th SEPTEMBER 2018 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: PLANNING  (DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SERVICE) 
 
WARDS AFFECTED:  ALL 
 
COUNCILLORS:  ALL 
 

 
 

TITLE OF REPORT: 
 

Implementation of the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (2018) and 
Other Relevant Updated/New National Planning Guidance 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To inform Members of implementation of the revised National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) in July 2018, and other National Planning Guidance and 
what this means in terms of the changes to the planning system in particular 
what Blackburn With Darwen Borough Council (BwD) considers to be important 
matters for the borough. 

 
 

2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England, and how 

these are expected to be applied.   It provides a framework to enable Local 
Planning Authorities (LPAs) to produce their own local and neighbourhood plans, 
which reflect the needs and priorities of their communities. The NPPF was 
initially adopted in March 2012.   Policies within the NPPF were updated due to 
legal challenges, appeal decisions, the issuing of ministerial statements, and 
revisions to the Planning Practice Guidance.    The new NPPF therefore collates 
all these changes in addition to the latest planning policy being forward by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

 
2.2 The revised NPPF was published by the (MHCLG) on the 24th July 2018, 

consolidating previous changes together with including new and updated policy.   
This emanated from the 2017 Housing White Paper, and the “Planning for the 
right homes in the right places” consultation in 2017. The revised NPPF was 
initially released in draft form during a consultation period between the 5th March 
2018 and 10th May 2018.   At the same time, the Government also published 

Page 147

Agenda Item 5



 2 

Planning Practice Guidance,  the Housing Delivery Test (draft measurement rule 
book), and Supporting Housing Delivery through Developer Contributions.  

 
2.3 As the revised NPPF was published, the Secretary of State Rt Hon James 

Brokenshire on the 24th July said, “Building attractive and better-designed homes 
in areas where they are needed is at the centre of new planning rules.”   In 
response to this challenge the new Framework proposes several key changes, 
which are predominately focussed on plan-making, housing supply and 
development density.  

 
2.4 The guidance set out in the revised NPPF came into effect immediately, which 

means local planning authorities must take it into account in their review or 
production of new local plans, and in decision making. This report provides 
Members with a concise summary of the main issues and proposed changes set 
out in the new NPPF and other guidance. 

  
3.  RATIONALE 
 

3.1 The NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance 
 
 The structure of the 2018 NPPF differs markedly from the 2012 edition, bringing 

forward the chapters on plan-making and decision making, and on housing.  A 
new chapter has also been added on “making efficient use of land”.  The new 
version is considered to adopt a more logical approach, and includes elements 
from the Planning Practice Guidance and relevant case law.   Reference is now 
made to policies maps rather than proposals maps (with key diagrams for broad 
locations of development).  In addition, the emphasis on up-to-date plans is also 
is included, together with the emphasis on joint-working, and the increased 
reference to the role of statutory and non-statutory consultees.  The revised 
NPPF places significant emphasis on design, with high quality buildings and 
places seen as fundamental to the planning process.   In particular, the guidance 
places great emphasis on high quality design for new homes.   The NPPF’s focus 
remains firmly on housing.  

 
3.2 The presumption in favour of sustainable development 
 
 The Government in the new NPPF has now attempted to be clear how this 

principle is applied and when, which arises from the many legal cases that have 
debated its application for decision taking since the publication of the 2012 
version.  Footnotes have now been included to help explain what is meant, and 
in paragraph 11, a footnote has been inserted which confirms that for decision 
taking, where policies most important for determining applications are out-of-
date, permission should be granted unless the site is protected from 
development or where the adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.   The footnote now emphasises that the presumption will 
now include for housing schemes, situations where there is no 5 year supply or 
where the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) has not been met (refer to paragraph 3.8 
below).  

 
 

Page 148



 3 

3.3 Objective Assessment of Need and Five Year Supply 
 
 As was anticipated following the enactment of the 2016 Housing and Planning 

Act, the main thrust of the new NPPF is on housing delivery. Section 5 of the 
NPPF focuses on the delivery of a sufficient supply of homes. The section 
introduces the standard method for determining housing need which was initially 
flagged in the Housing White Paper in March 2017, with a subsequent 
publication of an initial set of housing numbers for each local authority in England 
in September 2017. The attendant detail for how the methodology has calculated 
the housing numbers is contained in updated Planning Practice Guidance .  

 
3.4 However, the guidance is light on detail and this is acknowledged by the 

Government in their statement that the, “…new guidance does not constitute the 
full guidance for this section - further content will be added in due course.” No 
date has been given for when additional detailed information will be published but 
it is dependent on the publication of updated household forecasts that are 
expected in September 2018. 

 
3.5 Paragraph 67 still requires local planning authorities to set policies that identify a 

supply of specific, deliverable sites for a 5 year period.  However, the 
assessment of this has now changed with the definition in the glossary of what 
constitutes “deliverable development” now being updated.  The definition now 
specifically adds the following: 

 
 “Sites with outline planning permission, permission in principle, allocated in the 

development plan or identified on a brownfield register should only be considered 
deliverable where there is clear evidence that housing completions will begin on 
site within five years.” 

 
3.6 This change is clear from the 2012 version of the NPPF, in that sites should now 

only be included if there is certainty rather than being capable of being 
completed.    Whilst there is no definition of what “clear evidence” is required, it is 
likely that local authorities will need to obtain more detailed information from 
developers and landowners setting out their intentions to develop individual sites. 

 
3.7 BwD published its latest five year land supply report in July 2018. This set out 

that there is a 4.4 year supply of deliverable housing land in the Borough for the 
period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2023. The Table below is an extract from 
the five year land supply report which shows the rate of housing delivery since 
the commencement of the current local plan. 

 

Page 149



 4 

 
 
3.8 Housing Delivery Test 
 
 The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) is a new mechanism introduced by the 

Government to assess housing completions within each area and to enable 
further action to be taken if sufficient housing is not being delivered.   This will be 
introduced for local authorities in November, and will measure the number of 
homes created against local housing need and penalise Councils that under-
deliver against various thresholds over a three year period.   It will be based on 
either the housing target in a Local Plan, or the minimum annual local housing 
need figure  as set out by Government, and whichever is the lower figure being 
used. In the case of BwD this will be the minimum annual local housing need 
figure from Government.  

 
3.9 It is important to note the different approaches between the figures used for the 

five year land supply and HDT calculations. BwD, in common with a number of 
other authorities across the country, includes reoccupied long term empty 
properties within the count of additional dwellings. This approach was accepted 
by the Planning Inspector who conducted the examination of the Site Allocations 
and Development Management Policies Plan (Local Plan Part 2).1 The five year 
land supply calculation is based on considering delivery against the adopted local 
plan targets, whilst the HDT will use the minimum annual local housing need 
figure produced by Government. Work is in hand to consider a new local plan 
housing requirement. It is expected that a consultation on the issues and options 
stage of the new local plan will take place in early 2019, including consideration 
of a range of options for a new housing requirement. 

 
3.10 Paragraph 75 of the NPPF states: 
 

“Where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that delivery has fallen below 95% of 
the local planning authority’s housing requirement over the previous three years, 
the authority should prepare an action plan in line with national planning 

                                                           
1
 Inspector’s Report (http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/New%20local%20plan%202/Inspectors-Final-Report.pdf)  

Page 150

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/New%20local%20plan%202/Inspectors-Final-Report.pdf


 5 

guidance, to assess the causes of under-delivery and identify actions to increase 
delivery in future years.” 

 
Further details on the HDT are contained in accompanying technical guidance  2 
that sets out how housing delivery will be measured when the HDT commences 
in November 2018. A calculation for BwD is set out below that is based on the 
HDT Measurement Rule Book methodology. 

  

Requirement (based on HDT approach using 2012 and 
2014 Household Projections 10 year averages) 

2015/16 282 

2016/17 283 

2017/18 152 

TOTAL 717 
 

Completions (ONS Figures from Live Table 122 for 
2015/16 and 2016/17; BwD figure for 2017/18) 

2015/16 95 

2016/17 139 

2017/18 279 

TOTAL 513 

 
Housing Delivery Test (%) = Total net homes delivered over three year period/ 
Total number of homes required over three year period 
 
For BwD therefore: 
 
HDT = 513/717 
 
= 71.6% 
 
Note: This calculation is subject to potential amendment when the official figures 
are published in November 2018.  

 
The presumption penalty would apply from November to local authorities 
delivering below 25% of housing need in the three years to March 2018. 
Authorities will have to show that they have delivered at least 45% of housing 
need in the three years to March 2019, and 75% in the three years to March 
2020, to avoid the presumption penalty in November 2019 and November 2020 
respectively.  From the calculation above, it can be seen that BwD are meeting 
the threshold set from November 2018. 
 
Paragraph 75 of the NPPF makes reference to where LPAs delivery has fallen 
below 95% of the local planning authority’s housing requirement over the 
previous three years, they will be expected to produce an action plan that sets 
out how delivery rates will be improved. . In essence BwD can argue that an 
action plan is being produced with the growth pipeline work and tracker that is 
reported to the Growth Board. 

                                                           
2
 The Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book 

Page 151



 6 

 
3.11 Additional aspects to note in section 5 include: 
 

• Confirmation that affordable housing contributions cannot be sought 
from development of ten or fewer dwellings reiterating the previous Ministerial 
Statement that set out this expectation. 
• A minimum 10% affordable housing contribution on sites of 11 of more 
dwellings with certain exemptions identified (schemes that will deliver solely for 
build to rent or self-build, specialist accommodation typically for elderly persons 
or students, and entry-level and rural exception sites). 
• Promotion of small and medium sized sites whereby local authorities 
are expected to “…identify, through the development plan and brownfield 
registers, land to accommodate at least 10% of their housing requirement on 
sites no larger than one hectare; unless it can be shown, through the preparation 
of relevant plan policies, that there are strong reasons why this 10% target 
cannot be achieved.” 

• An option to produce an annual position statement on five year land supply 
that would be then be submitted and considered by the Secretary of State (in all 
likelihood it would be subjected to some form of examination by the Planning 
Inspectorate). 

 There are also some changes to rural housing policy.  Paragraph 79 now 
replaces Paragraph 55 in the previous NPPF relating to proposals where the 
design is of exceptional quality i.e. truly outstanding, innovative etc.  However, 
the paragraph also introduces a new element of allowing new housing in the 
countryside in that it involves the sub-division of an existing residential property.  
Whilst this does not involve further new building in the countryside, it does 
expand residential uses in rural areas which are not necessarily sustainable in 
terms of growth.   However, there are instances in the borough where there are 
significantly large residences which could benefit from sub-division.  

 
3.12 Plan Making (paras 15-37) 
 

The updated NPPF confirms that local plans should be reviewed at least once 
every five years with the first review taking place no later than five years from 
adoption.  It goes further by reinforcing the position that relevant strategic plan 
policies will require updating once every five years if the local housing need 
figure has changes significantly or earlier review if housing need is expected to 
change significantly in the near future (paragraph 33).  

 
3.13 This follows the position set out in the 2017 Housing White Paper, which  

formalised the Government’s expectation that Local Plans should be reviewed at 
least every five years.   BwD’s Core Strategy was adopted in January 2011, so is 
over seven years old.  As such, justification was approved earlier this year to 
start the Local Plan review. A review is critical to maintaining a pipeline of 
development sites, for both housing and commercial schemes.  Existing 
development sites are progressing at pace, and there is a particular shortage of 
allocated employment land.  For example, there is an urgent need for the 
consideration of the early release of the sites which are currently allocated for 
development beyond 2026, such as the North East Blackburn housing site, the 
allocation of the former Pleasington Lakes site for housing and the creation of a 

Page 152



 7 

strategic employment site at Guide to the south of the M65 between junctions 4 
and 5.   An updated Local Plan is essential to allow these sites to be released for 
development. 

 
3.14 The Borough’s housing and employment requirement figures were set by the 

Core Strategy, which is over 5 years old, and therefore in need of urgent review.  
Some of the evidence work for the Core Strategy dates back to the mid-2000s.  
The review will allow us to engage with landowners in areas where development 
has not previously been envisaged, and help us to lever in landowner / promoter 
resources to develop a site evidence base.  An updated strategy for addressing 
and justifying further Green Belt release will also be fundamental to the 
maintenance of our development pipeline.   
 

3.15 The updated NPPF has a number of changes that apply to planning policy and 
the production of Local Plans. Section 3 of the NPPF is concerned with plan-
making. 

 

 Plans should at a minimum include strategic policies that, “…address each local 

planning authority’s priorities for the development and use of land in its area.” 

Beyond this specific remit, plans can include non-strategic policies to deal with 

any locally specific issues that need to be addressed. 

 An additional aspect to the existing duty to cooperate is introduced in the form of 

a statement of common ground. This requires that local authorities prepare a 

statement of common ground with relevant neighbouring councils and other 

organisations on any strategic matters that require cross boundary cooperation. 

 A requirement that councils review adopted local plans within five years of the 

date of their adoption. This does not necessarily mean a plan will have to be 

revised; the requirement is to consider whether a revision is necessary and if so 

to then commence a review of the plan. 

 Setting out what contributions are expected from development. This is placing a 

considerable additional emphasis on local plans to test and then set out what 

levels of developer contributions will be required for any identified affordable 

housing need; and also for any other forms of infrastructure required to deliver 

the plan. The intention is for local plans to effectively set out the infrastructure 

requirements that may have previously been negotiated within individual planning 

applications. The NPPF is accompanied by updated Planning Practice Guidance 

which provides comprehensive details on how to deal with viability within local 

plans.  This is welcomed as it provides a stronger position for local planning 

authorities to request upfront information from site promoters.  It also states that 

developers should have regard to policies in the Plan as the price paid for land is 

not a justification for not according with relevant policies.  

 Paragraph 57 says applications that comply with contributions policies “should be 

assumed to be viable”.  It goes further by stating it is up to the applicant to 

demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability 

assessment at the application stage.   The paragraph also emphasises that 

viability assessments “should be made publicly available”.   This is welcomed as 

Page 153



 8 

it will make the process more accountable and open to both Members and the 

public, in that being more open and allowing a greater understanding of how 

figures are calculated is a positive step forward.  

 The importance of well-designed places is consolidated in the revised NPPF 

within section 12. This places a stronger emphasis on the role of local plans in 

developing a suitable framework for encouraging good design. 

 Setting out the revised tests of soundness that largely follow what was previously 

expected with three notable changes: 

o Under the positively prepared test highlighting the links between local 

authorities where unmet needs (primarily housing but could be 

employment) need to be considered. 

o With respect to the justified test, plans will now have to demonstrate they 

are “an appropriate strategy” as opposed to the previous “most 

appropriate strategy” approach. This potentially provides a more flexible 

interpretation of this test than previously applied. 

o For the effective test a continued emphasis on demonstrating joint working 

between local authorities and any other strategic organisations with the 

inclusion of the statement of common ground as a key element of the 

evidence required to demonstrate the test has been met. 

 
3.16 Green Belt 
 

Section 13 covers Green Belt and additional guidance is included for local 
authorities where changes are being proposed to remove land from the Green 
Belt via the Local Plan process.   
 
“Before concluding that exceptional circumstances exist to justify changes to 

Green Belt boundaries, the strategic policy-making authority should be able to 

demonstrate that it has examined fully all other reasonable options for meeting its 

identified need for development. This will be assessed through the examination 

of its strategic policies, which will take into account the preceding paragraph, and 

whether the strategy: 

a) makes as much use as possible of suitable brownfield sites and underutilised 

land; 

b) optimises the density of development in line with the policies in chapter 11 of 

this Framework, including whether policies promote a significant uplift in 

minimum density standards in town and city centres and other locations well 

served by public transport; and 

c) has been informed by discussions with neighbouring authorities about whether 

they could accommodate some of the identified need for development, as 

demonstrated through the statement of common ground.” 

 

Page 154



 9 

3.17 Development Management 
 
 The updated NPPF now incorporates a four page section on decision making 

with a focus on the importance of pre-application discussions and front loading.  
Paragraph 46 also sets out the Government’s view that applicants and local 
planning authorities should consider voluntary Planning Performance 
Agreements (PPAs) where this might achieve a “faster and more effective 
application process”.  This relates to the larger complex planning applications. 
This is welcomed at BwD as the Enhanced Services which included the provision 
of PPAs were formally adopted in April this year.   The Development 
Management working with the Growth Team are actively promoting this service 
relating to the larger major applications identified in the Growth Pipeline.  

 
3.18 The most fundamental change in the new NPPF which raises concerns is within 

Paragraph 55 where the use of pre-commencement conditions is now more 
difficult.   These are the conditions that usually require a certain action to be 
taken before the development commences.  The Government now advise in the 
paragraph and subsequent footnote, that their use should be kept to a minimum 
and only be used when they are agreed with the applicant.  This comes into force 
from the 1st October 2018.  Officers consider this will place a greater burden on 
applicants to provide more detailed information in advance of the grant of 
planning consent, thereby delaying the determination of the application.  So in 
effect, will this speed up the overall process of development?  Members should 
also be aware when they are considering and assessing a planning application 
presented to them at Committee, a pre-commencement condition cannot be 
imposed by the Members.  It will require the application being deferred to allow 
discussions to take place between the officers and applicants to ensure the 
applicants are in agreement.  This will further delay the determination of the 
application.  

 
3.19 Developer Contributions: S106 and Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
 The LPA often on major development schemes require a legal agreement to 

accompany a planning approval to ensure the provision of affordable housing, 
green infrastructure, education requirements, highways and other forms of on 
and off-site contributions.  The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was brought 
in a number of years ago as an alternative to a legal agreement (S106), however 
following extensive work it was determined that CIL was not a viable option in 
BwD.  As such, S106 Agreements would continue to be used.   When CIL was 
introduced in April 2010, the Government restricted the use of S106 Agreements 
to an upper limit of five for any one piece of infrastructure, which was known as 
“pooling”.  However, this made it more difficult for local authorities to deliver 
infrastructure.  It required officers to use precise wording within the covenants of 
S106 Agreements.  

 
3.20 At the same time as the updated NPPF consultation, the Government published 

a consultation document titled “Supporting Housing Delivery Through Developer 
Contributions” – Reforming developer contributions to affordable housing and 
infrastructure.  This reflects many of the changes to the operation of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and S106 contributions that were outlined 

Page 155



 10 

within the Autumn Budget in 2017.   It was anticipated that Regulations would be 
laid at the same time as the publication of the NPPF in the summer, however this 
has not happened.  One of the main changes being proposed is the removal of 
the “pooling” restriction subject to certain criteria being met, but these have not 
yet been confirmed.  

 
 
4.   POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1      The policy of the Council does not change in respect of this report.  However, the  

emphasis of the updated NPPF for local planning authorities to have up-to-date 
local plans particularly where the current local plan is over five years old, has 
brought forward BwD’s review of the Local Plan.   A revised Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) was formally adopted in January 2018,  which identifies the work 
programme for the next three years. It has been agreed by the Council's 
Executive Board and came into effect on 16th February 2018.   The timetable set 
out in the LDS shows that the new Local Plan is proposed to be adopted in the 
autumn of 2021.  

 

 

5.   FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1     The Growth Team are leading on the review and adoption of the new Local Plan. 
Resource implications will be met from within existing Growth Team budgets.  
This will include: Update evidence documents to establish up-to-date housing 
and employment land requirements; and produce an updated Retail Capacity 
Study, to understand quantity and type of retail developments needed in the 
Borough to support sustainable economic growth.  A number of potential areas of 
search for strategic development land have been identified at a high level.  Initial 
technical assessments are needed, along with a Green Belt review of those 
areas. 

 
6.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None. 
 

7.  RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1      None 
 
 
8.  EQUALITY  IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1  An Equality Impact Assessment is not required.  These are changes to national 
policy and guidance, therefore no local equality impact assessment has been 
made. 

 

 

 

 

Page 156



 11 

9. CONSULTATIONS 
  
9.1. This report will be presented to the Planning Cross Party Working Group at its 

next meeting on the 16th October 2018. 
 
10.      RECOMMENDATION 

 
10.1.1 (i) That the Committee note the content of the revised NPPF and the Housing 

Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government 
 
Contact Officer: Gavin Prescott, Planning Manager (Development 

Management) 
Date:    6th September 2018     

 
 Background Papers:  
 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) 
 Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book (July 2018) 

If you have any queries about this report or wish to inspect any of the 
background papers, please contact the author. 

Page 157



1

DEPARTMENT OF GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

ORIGINATING SECTION: Planning

REPORT TO: Planning & Highways Committee on 20th September 
2018.

TITLE:  Petition objecting to a planning application for the 
proposed change of use of 282 Blackburn Road, Darwen 
from a Bed and Breakfast to a 6 bed Therapeutic Centre.
Ref. 10/18/0779.

WARD:  Darwen West 
______________________________________________________________________
Councillor:  Dave Smith
Councillor: Brian Taylor
Councillor: Stephanie Rose Brookfield

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To inform Members of the receipt of a petition objecting to the proposed change 
of use of 282 Blackburn Road, Darwen, from a Bed and Breakfast to a 6 bed 
Therapeutic Centre.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND DETAILS

2.1 On 27th July 2018, the Local Planning Authority received the application for the 
aforementioned proposed change of use.  22 neighbouring properties were 
consulted by letter.

2.2 Following consultation, the subject petition was received on 29th August 2018.  It 
represents objections to the proposed change of use from 10 residents of The 
Gables, St Albans Road, Darwen, which is a supported housing development 
catering for older people located on the adjacent corner to the applicant site, at 
the junction of Blackburn Road and St Alban’s Road, Darwen.  The objection 
relates to the possibility of increased anti-social behaviour from residents of the 
proposed use.

2.3 The proposed change of use was subject to pre-application advice which set out 
the Council’s support in principle, subject to satisfactory detailed assessment of 
highway and noise impacts of the development.  A Case Officer recommendation 
is yet to be finalised, pending receipt of outstanding consultee responses.  The 
recommendation will be presented to the Chair, under the Chair Referral 
Scheme, in due course.

Page 158

Agenda Item 6



2

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 That the petition be noted by Members and that the lead petitioner be informed of 
any decision taken.

4.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS   

4.1 Pre-application response - Enq. 07999
4.2 Current planning application - 10/18/0779

5.0 CONTACT OFFICER  Nick Blackledge – Tel. 585112.

6.0      DATE PREPARED  6th September 2018.

Page 159



Document is Restricted

Page 160

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



1

PLANNING & HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE
THURSDAY, 20th SEPTEMBER  2018

UPDATE:

10/18/0230- The Old School Grounds, Blackburn Road, Edgworth

The following additional comments have been received:

United Utilities dated 13th September 2018: If installed correctly, the proposed 
septic tank should not cause United Utilities any significant water quality 
issues. However the developer would need to confirm whether the optional 
high level telemetry alarm will be installed and made operable, as this would 
reduce the risk of untreated effluent escaping into the watercourse. It is 
recommended to Committee that, if the application is approved, the 
installation and retention of the high level telemetry alarm be included as a 
condition of planning permission being granted. 

Jeanette and Neil Ramsbottom, 3 Edgworth Views, School Lane,Edgworth 
(neighbour consultees) dated 12th September 2018: Myself and family have 
recently moved up to School Lane from elsewhere in Edgworth (for the last 8 
years), and to find that someone wishes to build (exceptional design or not) 
within the greenbelt of Edgworth is beyond me. I fully believe that by allowing 
this application to go through will open up the surrounding greenbelt, that 
makes the village so stunning, to a whole host of other developers that wish to 
spoil our treasured natural areas. Demolishing the lavish green home to our 
wonderful wildlife to build an overly lavish home to a single selfish 
homeowner. I find it disgusting. It will be the beginning of a downward spiral 
for our beautiful village.Please do not let this application go through.

In the fourth bullet point at Section 4.1 of the Committee Report, the 
inadequate sightlines are set out as a reason for recommending refusal of the 
application. In an e-mailed response dated 16th September, the architect has 
proposed the further clearing of trees, bushes and other foliage. Members are 
referred back to Paragraph 3.5.37, where it is accepted that sightlines could 
be approved, but that “the requirement to improve sightlines is considered 
likely to compromise the trees and natural habitats along the Brook”. The loss 
of trees and vegetation would fail to preserve the character and appearance 
of the Biological Heritage Site along the course of Wheatsheaf Brook, contrary 
to Policy 9 of the Local Plan Part 2.

In the same e-mail, the architect addresses the reason for refusal posed by 
the septic tank. It is proposed to work through a scheme to connect the drains 
to the existing village drain network adjacent to the neighbouring terraced 
houses at School View. If Members are minded to approve the application it is 
advised that the decision be deferred to allow details of this proposal to be 
submitted and assessed by the Local Planning Authority and the Council’s 
Ecological and Drainage advisers. It is considered that such details need to 
be agreed prior to determination rather than secured by condition in order to 

Page 167



2

fully assess the impact of the scheme on the Green Belt and the local 
ecological habitats.

Gavin Prescott
Planning Manager (Development Management)
20th September  2018

Page 168


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interest
	DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN

	4 Planning Applications
	4.1 Planning Application 10/18/0230 - Old School Grounds, Edgworth, BL7 0PU
	4.2 Planning Application 10/18/0396 - Land and Properties off Billinge End Road, Blackburn BB2 6PY
	4.3 Planning Application 10/18/0502- 11 Vale Street, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0EB
	5 Implementation of the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (2018) and Other Relevant Updated/New National Planning Guidance
	6 Petition objecting to a planning application for the proposed change of use of 282 Blackburn Road, Darwen from a Bed and Breakfast to a 6 bed Therapeutic Centre
	7 Enforcement Report
	 Update Report

